



# Introduction to higher-spin theories

# Simon Pekar\*

Service de Physique de l'Univers, Champs et Gravitation, Université de Mons – UMONS, Place du Parc 20, 7000 Mons, Belgium School of Mathematics and Maxwell Institute, University of Edinburgh, Peter Guthrie Tait Road, Edinburgh EH9 3FD, UK

*E-mail*: simon.pekar@umons.ac.be

These lecture notes are based on a six-hour lecture given at the 2022 edition of the Modave Summer School in Mathematical Physics. They are meant to be an introductory course to higher-spin theories. We start with the basics of group theory allowing one to define higher-spin fields, then discuss the free theory in the metric-like and the frame-like formulations. We end with the construction of higher-spin symmetry algebras and emphasise the link between them and the free theory, as well as the considerations that allow one to construct the former from the symmetries of the latter.

XVIII Modave Summer School in Mathematical Physics, 5-9 September 2022 Modave, Belgium

## \*Speaker

<sup>©</sup> Copyright owned by the author(s) under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0).

# Contents

1	Intr	oduction	3				
	1.1	Motivations	4				
	1.2	Plan	5				
	1.3	Conventions	6				
2	Higher-spin particles as unitary irreducible representations of vacuum isometry alge-						
	bras	3	6				
	2.1	Minkowski	6				
	2.2	AdS space-time	8				
3	Met	ric-like formulation	10				
	3.1	Low-spin examples	11				
	3.2	Fronsdal's equations of motion	13				
	3.3	Reducibility parameters	15				
	3.4	Fronsdal Lagrangian	16				
	3.5	Alternative metric-like formulations	17				
	3.6	Constructing interactions	18				
4	Frame-like formulation						
	4.1	Reminder: (linearised) gravity à la Cartan	23				
	4.2	Fronsdal's equations from vielbein and spin connection	26				
	4.3	Complete set of auxiliary fields from the reducibility parameters	28				
	4.4	Initial data for a gauge algebra	31				
5	Higher-spin algebras						
	5.1	Fradkin-Vasiliev-Eastwood algebra in general $d \ge 4$	33				
	5.2	The three-dimensional case	37				
6	Con	clusion and outlook	41				
A	No-g	go and yes-go theorems in flat space	42				
	A.1	Symmetries of the S-matrix	42				
	A.2	(In)existence of a gauge algebra	43				
B	Reminders of tensor calculus						
	<b>B</b> .1	Conventions	44				
	B.2	Young tableaux manipulation	46				
С	Env	eloping algebra of conformal isometries	47				

# 1. Introduction

These lecture notes are the summary of a course on higher-spin theories. The goal was to present, in a self-contained way, extensions of General Relativity including fields of arbitrary integer spin, which describe unitary unitary, irreducible representations of the Poincaré or (A)dS group with arbitrary spin, that we will refer to as higher-spin gravity, and revolving around the following question: *is there an interacting theory of higher-spin gravity*? Already at the classical level, this proves to be a challenging task, but with potentially promising rewards: understanding higher-spin symmetry could open a new path to quantising gravity and would provide the missing link between ordinary lower-spin theories and String Theory.

Crossing the spin-two barrier (to borrow the terminology of [1]) is a notoriously difficult task, met with many famous no-go theorems, some of them presented in appendix A. These theorems shed doubt on the viability of any higher-spin theory, but mostly rely on *S*-matrix arguments. Crucially, it was realised that going to curved space-time instead of a flat one would allow to bypass many no-gos, as first suggested by Fradkin and Vasiliev [2–4], and confirmed within the framework of the higher-spin AdS/CFT correspondence [5, 6].

Starting within the well-known framework of perturbative classical gauge theory, we try to follow the historical way in which the story of higher-spin gravity unfolded. The free theory, which can be seen as a generalisation of linearised General Relativity, was built by Fronsdal in any space-time of constant curvature [7, 8] and soon after, the program of completing the free theory by adding interactions perturbatively was initiated. The early yes-go results on the existence of cubic vertices [9] in flat and curved background, culminating in the construction of an interacting theory in AdS<sub>4</sub> [10] and AdS<sub> $d\geq 4$ </sub> [11] was a confirmation that, although more exotic than their lower-spin cousins, interacting higher-spin theories do exist.

Already at the level of the cubic theory, it was realised that the non-Abelian higher-spin algebra encoding the symmetry was a crucial ingredient. A fully interacting theory in  $AdS_4$  was then built [10], proposing a completion to the program of obtaining non-linear higher-spin theories through the gauging of a higher-spin algebra extending the  $AdS_4$  isometry algebra and mirroring Cartan's construction of General Relativity through the gauging of the Poincaré or (A)dS algebras. Its conjectured holographic dual was proposed in [5, 6] and further developed, e.g., in [12, 13].

In these notes, we put the accent on the link between the symmetries of the free theory, the higher-spin generalisation of linearised diffeomorphisms, the frame-like formulation and the construction of a higher-spin algebra. We will make some reminders on lower-spin (i.e. spin less or equal to two) theories along the way, both as a warm-up for the more technical parts and also to make the case that, despite their rough history, higher-spin theories share many similarities with the gauge theory of gravity.

The higher-spin algebra in any dimension is then constructed, and we examine the case of AdS<sub>3</sub> separately and its connection with higher-spin gravity in the Chern-Simons formulation. Some elements of higher-spin holography [14, 15] are also flashed, with a highlight on the the dual role played by the higher-spin algebra of Fradkin, Vasiliev (in d = 4, [3]) and Eastwood (generalisation to all dimensions [16]), serving the dual role of an algebra of higher endomorphisms of the singleton module on the boundary and a higher-spin algebra in the bulk.

The material presented in these notes is by no means new, and we refer to [1, 17-31] for

a complete overview of the subject, ranging from non-technical presentations to more in-depth reviews.

# 1.1 Motivations

We begin by giving some motivation as to why we want to study such theories. Although it constitutes an interesting mathematical and field-theoretic problem on its own, the higher-spin program may find motivations in String Theory, quantum gravity and holography, of which we sketch some elements.

# **From String Theory**

In String Theory, excited states are built as tensor products of oscillators. As an example, the first excited state of bosonic closed String Theory in d = 26 contains a rank-two tensor which can be split into a rank-two symmetric traceless tensor  $G_{(\mu\nu)}$  (the graviton), a two-form  $B_{[\mu\nu]}$  (the Kalb-Ramond field) and a scalar  $\phi$  (the dilaton). The second excited state is built as the product of up to 4 oscillators and has a much more complicated spectrum, involving higher representations of the Lorentz group. Higher-spin excitations appear naturally in String Theory (also in fermionic theories with both open and closed strings), as the decomposition in irreducible components of the Lorentz group of higher excited states

$$|N;p\rangle = \varepsilon_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_{N_L}\nu_1\cdots\nu_{N_R}} \tilde{\alpha}_{-m_1}^{\mu_1}\cdots\tilde{\alpha}_{-m_{N_L}}^{\mu_{N_L}} \alpha_{-n_1}^{\nu_1}\cdots\alpha_{-n_{N_R}}^{\nu_{N_R}} |0;p\rangle, \qquad (1.1)$$

with  $\varepsilon_{\mu_1\cdots\mu_{N_L}\nu_1\cdots\nu_{N_R}}$  a polarisation tensor and  $N = \sum_{k=1}^{N_L} m_k = \sum_{k=1}^{N_R} n_k$  due to level-matching. The N > 1 states are usually disconsidered in the low-energy regime, because of their mass

$$M^{2} = \frac{4}{\alpha'}(N-1), \qquad (1.2)$$

which becomes very large<sup>1</sup> when  $\alpha' \rightarrow 0$ , as opposed to the (super-)gravity multiplet N = 1 which remains massless.

Nevertheless, higher-spin modes are relevant for the UV-complete character of String Theory. In fact, string scattering amplitudes possess a hidden symmetry relating scattering amplitudes of states with different spins, as was first observed by Gross in [32]. Moreover, if one probes the tensionless limit of String Theory  $\alpha' \rightarrow \infty$ , higher-spin excitations become massless. This observationhas led to the conjecture that String Theory could be described as the broken phase of a higher-spin gauge theory, in which all massless higher-spin excitations are treated equally. Concerning the treatment of higher-spin excitations in String Theory, and the relation between String Theory and higher-spin gauge theories, one may refer to [22, 27, 33].

#### From quantising gravity

The old attempt of quantising gravity using techniques of Quantum Field Theory turned out to be inconsistent because of divergences requiring the introduction of infinitely many counterterms [34], thereby losing predictive power. One way out of this would be to require that a powerful

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Strictly speaking, one needs to compare the string scale  $\sqrt{\alpha'}$  to another quantity with dimension of length *R*, furnished by e.g. a curvature. In string compactification, such a length scale is naturally there.

symmetry fixes the form of all counter-terms, making the theory UV-finite or at least renormalisable. One may wonder if higher-spin fields have any place within this program: is higher-spin symmetry powerful enough to cure the UV divergences of gravity, or is it simply making the problem of quantising gravity more difficult?

Such a procedure indeed finds a realisation in String Theory, where higher-spin excitations of the string arise naturally as a way to keep the UV behaviour of the string under control. Starting from General Relativity, one may hope that the introduction of inifinitely many higher-spin fields would help 'soften' the bad UV behaviour of gravity. The problem is therefore to define a theory extending General Relativity and with manifest higher-spin gauge symmetry.

Such a theory would not only serve as a toy model for the tensionless limit of String Theory but also as a candidate to quantise gravity from the bottom up (no strings attached, but the end goal would be to relate this construction to String Theory). The candidate we will study is one of the simplest as it involves only symmetric fields with arbitrary spin. While this setup qualitatively differs from String Theory (as the latter also involves fields with mixed symmetry), we expect that we can learn a lot on the latter by the study of the former.

# From holography

One of the distinguishing features of String Theory is its holographic character [35, 36]. Holographic duals of String Theories (e.g. the original IIB / N = 4 SYM duality) usually involve some large-N regime of lower-spin theories such as (super-)Yang-Mills, but in accordance with the intuition on the tensionless limit of String Theory, the putative holographic dual of the tensionless limit of type IIB String Theory is conjectured to be a theory of higher-spin gravity on AdS<sub>5</sub> × S<sup>5</sup> [37].

While a proof of this conjecture seems still far away, there is evidence that Vasiliev's theory of massless symmetric gauge fields in AdS has a very simple holographic dual [5, 6], namely a free or critical (Wilson-Fischer) O(N) vector model at large N, making it an ideal toy model to study the holographic correspondence. These models also have interesting phenomenological applications in condensed-matter physics (the Ising model).

In these notes, we will briefly touch on the holographic dual of AdS higher-spin theory, explaining in particular the link between the symmetries in the bulk and the boundary. Finally, let us mention the Gaberdiel-Gopakumar duality between three-dimensional higher-spin gravity and two-dimensional  $W_N$ -minimal models built as Wess-Zumino-Witten models [38, 39].

# 1.2 Plan

In section 2 we recall the necessary tools from group theory in order to define higher-spin fields as unitary irreducible representations of the vacuum isometry group of maximally symmetric spacetimes. In section 3 we present the metric-like formulation of Fronsdal, which is the simplest way of formulating the dynamics, and present the general construction of interactions in a Lagrangian theory. In section 4 we move on to the frame-like formulation, which makes full use of the gauge symmetries found in the previous sections. This paves the way to section 5 where we explain the construction of higher-spin symmetry algebras and explain the link between a non-Abelian algebra and cubic vertices in AdS. Finally, we provide some perspective on the higher-spin program in section 6. In appendix A, we recall some facts about no-go theorems for interacting higher-spin theories, as well as possible ways out, while B.2 and C are technical appendices concerning Young tableaux manipulation and the realisation of the higher-spin algebra as the enveloping algebra of conformal isometries, realised on the singleton module.

#### 1.3 Conventions

The dimension of space-time is  $d \ge 3$ , we will mostly be interested on the three maximally symmetric space-times  $\mathbb{M}_d \simeq \mathbb{R}^{d-1,1}$  (Minkowski),  $\operatorname{AdS}_d$  (Anti-de Sitter) or  $\operatorname{dS}_d$  (de Sitter), with isometry groups ISO(d - 1, 1), SO(d - 1, 2) or SO(d, 1). In these notes, d-dimensional flat (Minkowski) space-time  $\mathbb{M}_d$  has mostly-plus metric  $\eta_{ab} = \operatorname{diag}(-, +, \ldots, +)$ . The *ambient space*  $\mathbb{R}^{d,1}$ , of which the previous space-times are different sections, has dimension d + 1. The conformal boundary of  $\operatorname{AdS}_d$  has dimension d - 1. Indices in  $\mathbb{M}_d$  or (A) $\operatorname{dS}_d$  space-time will be denoted by Greek indices  $\mu, \nu$  if they are space-time indices or lowercase Latin letters a, b if they are fibre indices. In ambient space they will be denoted by uppercase Latin letters A, B. We will work in the symmetric convention: groups of indices separated by a comma are symmetrised. To ease the notation, we will refrain from using the comma for the generator of Lorentz transformations  $J_{a,b} = J_{ab} = J_{[ab]}$  and  $J_{A,B} = J_{AB} = J_{[AB]}$ .

We use the Einstein summation convention for a repeated index appearing once in the covariant form and once in the contravariant form. We also use the convention that a set of symmetrised indices  $(a_1a_2...a_k)$  are represented by the shorter notation a(k). In other words, repeated indices that are not summed (either all covariant or all contravariant) are symmetrised, dividing by the minimum number of terms entering the symmetrisation. More details on our conventions and some reminders of tensor calculus can be found in appendix B.1.

# 2. Higher-spin particles as unitary irreducible representations of vacuum isometry algebras

In this part, we will do some brief reminders of group theory that will allow us to define massless higher-spin particles as irreducible representations of the Poincaré or AdS algebra. Although we will not focus on the case of dS, most of the results concerning higher-spin representations in AdS can be extrapolated to dS.

# 2.1 Minkowski

We will follow Wigner's induced representations method [40]. We first fix the action of the generator of translations of ISO(d - 1, 1). For massless representations, the "little group" which stabilises this action is given by the group of Euclidean isometries ISO(d - 2). Restricting to its Lorentz subgroup by imposing a trivial action of the (d - 2)-dimensional translations means that we are dealing with *truly massless* particles (as opposed to continuous spin for example) which are characterised by symmetric and traceless tensors under SO(d - 2). For this part, we will mainly follow [41].

#### 2.1.1 Poincaré algebra

The Poincaré algebra iso(d - 1, 1) reads

$$i[J_{ab}, J_{cd}] = \eta_{bc} J_{ad} - \eta_{ac} J_{bd} - \eta_{bd} J_{ac} + \eta_{ad} J_{bc}, \qquad (2.1a)$$

$$i[J_{ab}, P_c] = \eta_{bc} P_a - \eta_{ac} P_b , \qquad (2.1b)$$

$$i[P_a, P_b] = 0, (2.1c)$$

where  $J_{ab}$  are Lorentz transformations and  $P_a$  translations. They correspond to the infinitesimal transformations of the coordinates  $x'^{\mu} = \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{\nu}x^{\nu} + a^{\mu}$  and  $i\mathfrak{so}(d-1,1)$  is the Lie algebra of the group  $ISO(d-1,1) \simeq SO(d-1,1) \ltimes \mathbb{R}^{d-1,1}$ . In the following, we will sometimes consider a version of the algebra where the structure constants on the right-hand side of the Lie bracket  $[\cdot, \cdot]$  are real. This can be achieved by sending the generators to -i times themselves.

# 2.1.2 Casimirs of the Poincaré algebra

Elements in the centre of the Universal Envelopping Algebra (more details in section 5.1.1) are known as Casimir invariants and are used to characterise representations. The algebras of isometries of maximally symmetric space-times,  $\mathfrak{so}(d-1,2)$ ,  $\mathfrak{so}(d,1)$  and  $\mathfrak{iso}(d-1,1)$ , all have the same number of independent Casimirs [42]. For even d = 2k, there are k Casimirs of orders 2, 4, ..., 2k, while for odd d = 2k + 1, there are k + 1 Casimirs of orders 2, 4, ..., 2k, k + 1.

In d = 3 Both Casimirs are quadratic and are given by  $P^2 = P_a P^a$  and  $W = \epsilon^{abc} J_{ab} P_c$ .

In d = 4 Classes of irreducible representations of the Poincaré algebra are characterised by its two Casimirs, the mass-squared and the square of the Pauli-Lubanski pseudo-vector

$$C_2 = -P^2 = -P_a P^a, \quad C_4 = W^2 = W_a W^a, \tag{2.2}$$

where  $W^a = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{abcd} J_{bc} P_d$ . The eigenvalues of  $C_2$  and  $C_4$  are usually parameterised as  $P^2 = -m^2$ and  $W^2 = m^2 s(s+1)$ .

Arbitrary  $d \ge 5$  We have more than two Casimirs, given by the mass-squared  $P^2 = P_a P^a$  and higher products built from the generalisation of the Pauli-Lubanski pseudo-vector [43, 44]

$$\frac{1}{2}W^{a_4\cdots a_d} = \epsilon^{a_1\cdots a_d} J_{a_1a_2} P_{a_3}, \quad \frac{1}{4}W^{a_6\cdots a_d} = \epsilon^{a_1\cdots a_d} J_{a_1a_2} J_{a_3a_4} P_{a_5}, \quad \cdots .$$
(2.3)

If the dimension is even, then the squares of the previous tensors are Casimir invariants, if the dimension is odd, then one of them is already a scalar and is an invariant (the one where the Levi-Civita tensor saturates the indices of the generators).

# 2.1.3 Wigner's classification

We follow the method of induced representations by Wigner [40]. We determine the action of the translations

$$P_a|p\rangle = p_a|p\rangle, \qquad (2.4)$$

and look at the subgroup of Lorentz transformations stabilising the vector  $p_a$ , called the little group. The rank of the little group depends on the value of the mass-squared. **Massless** For the massless case, the little group is ISO(d-2). One can repeat the Wigner classification for this little group by first specifying the action of the (d-2)-dimensional translations. Here, because of the Euclidean signature, there are only two cases: non-trivial (given by a vector of non-zero norm) or trivial. Discarding the case of non-trivial action which gives rise to continuous (or infinite) spin representations, the ingredient needed to complete the Wigner classification in this case is to specify the action of the Lorentz subgroup SO(d-2). In general, it is given by a tensor  $T_{a_1 \cdots a_{n_1}, b_1 \cdots b_{n_2}, \cdots, c_1 \cdots c_{n_k} = T_{a(n_1), b(n_2), \cdots, c(n_k)}$  characterised by its symmetry in the indices, given by the Young tableau

$$\mathbb{Y}_{d-2}(n_1, n_2, \cdots, n_k) = \begin{bmatrix} n_1 \\ n_2 \\ \vdots \\ n_k \end{bmatrix}, \qquad (2.5)$$

where  $0 < n_k \le \dots \le n_1$  and  $0 \le k \le \lfloor \frac{d-2}{2} \rfloor$  (any tableau with more rows can be dualised using the Levi-Civita tensor). The number of components of this tableau will be denoted with absolute value. The conventions are as follows: the indices are symmetrised in each row, traceless inside of each row and between rows, and the compatibility condition imposes that symmetrisation of the indices in a row with an index from the following row gives zero. As an example,

$$T_{a(n_1),ab(n_2-1),c(n_3)} = 0, \quad T_{a(n_1),b(n_2),bc(n_3-1)} = 0.$$
 (2.6)

In d = 4, the non-zero tensors are parameterised by an irreducible representation of SO(2), which are all given by Young tableaux of the type

$$\mathbb{Y}_2(s) = \underline{s}_{SO(2)} \quad \text{for } s \ge 0.$$
(2.7)

Indeed, the only non-vanishing tableau with more than one row,  $\mathbb{Y}_2(1, 1)$ , can be dualised to a scalar using the two-dimensional Levi-Civita tensor. All in all, we found that only symmetric fields propagate in d = 4. We can also evaluate the number of propagating degrees of freedom using the formula

$$|\mathbb{Y}_{d-2}(s)| = \binom{d-3+s}{s} - \binom{d-5+s}{s-2} = \frac{(d+s-5)!}{s!(d-4)!}(d+2s-4).$$
(2.8)

For d = 4 and  $s \ge 1$ , this gives  $|\mathbb{Y}_2(s)| = 2$ , meaning that massless symmetric higher-spin fields in d = 4 always carry 2 degrees of freedom.

**Massive** For massive particles, the little group is SO(d-1). In d = 4, the numbers of propagating degrees of freedom of a massive symmetric higher-spin field is  $|\mathbb{Y}_3(s)| = 2s + 1$ .

**Other** Apart from the vacuum, or zero-momentum representation, there are also "exotic" representations of the Poincaré group such as tachyons or continuous spins, which we will not discuss [40, 41]. For a review of continuous spin representations, and their connection with higher-spin representations, see [45].

# 2.2 AdS space-time

Representation theory of AdS is widely different from the one of Minkowski, since the AdS algebra is semi-simple. However, some representations are present in both classifications, in particular massless fields of arbitrary spin.

#### 2.2.1 AdS as a maximally symmetric space-time

Similarly to *d*-dimensional Minkowski space-time,  $AdS_d$  is a space-time of maximal symmetry (it has  $\frac{d(d+1)}{2}$  Killing vectors). We first review its construction as a solution of Einstein's equations, as well as a more geometric construction relying on ambient space. Then, we classify the UIR of the AdS algebra.

**Solutions of Einstein's equations** Although Minkowski space  $\mathbb{M}_d$  is straightforward to define, this is not so much the case of  $\operatorname{AdS}_d$  space. Let us, for the sake of completeness, define  $\operatorname{AdS}_d$  as the metric  $\overline{g}$  solution to Einstein's vacuum equations with cosmological constant

$$G_{\mu\nu}[g] + \Lambda g = 0. \tag{2.9}$$

It is a space-time of constant curvature, so the only non-vanishing component of the Riemann tensor is its trace

$$R_{[\mu\nu][\rho\sigma]} = -\frac{1}{\ell^2} (\bar{g}_{\mu\rho} \bar{g}_{\nu\sigma} - \bar{g}_{\nu\rho} \bar{g}_{\mu\sigma}), \qquad (2.10)$$

where the AdS radius  $\ell$  is related to the cosmological constant as

$$\Lambda = -\frac{(d-1)(d-2)}{2\ell^2} \,. \tag{2.11}$$

**Ambient space construction** It is also convenient to define  $AdS_d$  as a section of d+1-dimensional ambient space, given by the constraint

$$-X_0^2 - X_d^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} X_i^2 = -\ell^2 .$$
(2.12)

We can view AdS as a *d*-dimensional hyperboloid embedded into d + 1-dimensional flat ambient space, enjoying SO(d - 1, 2) global symmetry with algebra

$$i[J_{AB}, J_{CD}] = \eta_{BC} J_{AD} - \eta_{AC} J_{BD} - \eta_{BD} J_{AC} + \eta_{AD} J_{BC}, \qquad (2.13)$$

where

$$J_{AB} = i(X_A \partial_B - X_B \partial_A).$$
(2.14)

By taking  $a \in \{0, ..., d-1\}$  and posing  $P_a = \ell^{-1} J_{ad}$ , we recover the more familiar form of the AdS algebra

$$i[J_{ab}, J_{cd}] = \eta_{bc} J_{ad} - \eta_{ac} J_{bd} - \eta_{bd} J_{ac} + \eta_{ad} J_{bc}, \qquad (2.15a)$$

$$i[J_{ab}, P_c] = \eta_{bc} P_a - \eta_{ac} P_b,$$
 (2.15b)

$$i[P_a, P_b] = \frac{1}{\ell^2} J_{ab}$$
 (2.15c)

Note that one can recover Poincaré as a limit of flat curvature<sup>2</sup> (or large radius) of AdS through an İnönü-Wigner contraction [46] leaving the Lorentz subalgebra untouched and Abelianising transvections.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Formally, one needs to consider the regime of large radius with respect to another dimensionful scale, e.g., the Planck mass. This limit taken at the level of the Einstein-Hilbert action admits Minkowski space as a solution. In the following, we will assume that such a length scale is always present (i.e. gravity exists in the bulk).

#### Simon Pekar

# 2.2.2 Unitary irreducible representations of the AdS algebra

In the following, we will focus on lowest-weight irreducible representations of AdS. Let's take  $\mathfrak{so}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{so}(d-1) \subset \mathfrak{so}(d-1,2)$  as a maximally compact subalgebra, with the  $\mathfrak{so}(2)$  part generated by *E* such that  $E^{\dagger} = E$  (real energy) and  $\mathfrak{so}(d-1)$  generated by  $J_{ij}$  such that  $J_{ij}^{\dagger} = -J_{ij}$ . The generators in the non-compact directions will be called  $J_i^{\pm}$  with  $(J_i^{\pm})^{\dagger} = J_i^{\mp}$ . We have the splitting

$$\mathfrak{so}(d-1,2) \simeq \mathfrak{g}_+ \oplus \mathfrak{g}_0 \oplus \mathfrak{g}_-,$$
 (2.16)

where  $\mathfrak{g}_0$  is spanned by E and  $J_{ij}$  (the Cartan generators associated to this decomposition) and  $\mathfrak{g}_{\pm}$  by  $J_i^{\pm}$ . Irreducible representations are defined by their eigenvalues on the maximally compact subalgebra  $\bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} | E_n, \mathbb{Y}_n \rangle$ , with the set  $\mathbb{N}$  possibly being infinite, such that  $E_0 \leq E_1 \leq \ldots$  are ordered eigenvalues of E and the  $\mathbb{Y}_{d-1}^n$  characterise the transformation under  $J_{ij}$  (the analogue of the little group in flat space). We define the state with the lowest eigenvalue of E to be the *lowest weight* (or vacuum in the language of Fock states), i.e. it is annihilated by the lowering operator  $J_i^-$ 

$$J_i^- |E_0, \mathbb{Y}_0\rangle = 0.$$
 (2.17)

Then, the descendants are

$$J_{i_1}^+ \dots J_{i_m}^+ | E_0, \mathbb{Y}_0 \rangle$$
. (2.18)

Unitarity imposes that the squared norm of the state and all such descendants are definite positive. We find that this condition, for symmetric fields  $\mathbb{Y}_0 = \mathbb{Y}_{d-1}(s)$  with s > 0 reads

$$E_0 \ge s + d - 3. \tag{2.19}$$

On the other hand, for a scalar  $\mathbb{Y}_0 = \bullet$ ,

$$E_0 \ge \frac{d-3}{2} \,. \tag{2.20}$$

Note that  $P^2$  is no longer a Casimir of the AdS algebra since it does not commute with transvections. The quadratic Casimir is instead

$$C_2|E_0, \mathbb{Y}_0\rangle = \frac{1}{2}J_{AB}J^{AB}|E_0, \mathbb{Y}_0\rangle = [E_0(E_0 - d + 1) + C_2(\mathfrak{so}(d - 1))]|E_0, \mathbb{Y}_0\rangle.$$
(2.21)

where  $C_2(\mathfrak{so}(d-1))$  is the quadratic Casimir of the rotation subalgebra. For totally symmetric tensors of rank *s*,

$$C_2(\mathfrak{so}(d-1))|E_0, \mathbb{Y}_{d-1}(s)\rangle = s(s+d-3)|E_0, \mathbb{Y}_{d-1}(s)\rangle.$$
(2.22)

The analogue of a massless spinning field in AdS is one that has the same number of propagating degrees of freedom as in Minkowski space where the energy saturates the unitarity bound [47].

# 3. Metric-like formulation

In this section, we will derive the first – and simplest – formulation of the dynamics of free massless symmetric higher-spin fields for integer spin. It is the Fronsdal formulation [7], which

generalises the Fierz-Pauli action [48]. In the following, indices are raised and lowered with respect to a background metric  $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu}$ , and we have a metric-compatible connection  $\nabla_{\mu}$ .

The advantage of the Fronsdal formulation is that it is a clear generalisation of the lower-spin cases (Maxwell's theory of electromagnetism and the linearised theory of General Relativity of Fierz and Pauli). There are however a few inconvenients with this formulation, for instance the fact that we have to deal with doubly-traceless fields (see section 3.2).

An action principle is also established. We will first have a look at lower-spin theories, namely Maxwell's and Einstein's, before generalising the equations of motion and action to higher-spin, both in flat and (A)dS space-time. We identify the reducibility parameters of the theory, that is, the gauge transformations that preserve the vacuum solution. These will play a crucial role in the algebraic approach of sections 4 and 5. We then move on to the classification of interaction vertices in a weak-field expansion, within the Noether procedure. At the cubic level, there are some non-Abelian vertices hinting at a higher-spin algebra, that is constrained by the consistency of quartic vertices. Finally, we provide some comments on quartic interactions.

# 3.1 Low-spin examples

We begin by recalling some well-known examples of gauge theories, starting with Maxwell and linearised General Relativity. We will look at the case of flat space first, then present the generalisation to curved (AdS) space.

### 3.1.1 Flat space

We choose the flat Minkowski metric as a background  $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu}$  (and therefore  $\nabla_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}$ ).

**Spin-1** Maxwell's equations are formulated in terms of the u(1) gauge potential  $A_{\mu}$  with

$$\partial^{\mu} F_{\mu\nu}[A] = \partial^2 A_{\nu} - \partial_{\mu} \partial \cdot A = 0, \qquad (3.1)$$

where  $\partial \cdot A = \partial^{\mu}A_{\mu}$  and we used the curvature/field-strength tensor

$$F_{\mu\nu}[A] \equiv 2\,\partial_{[\mu}A_{\nu]}\,. \tag{3.2}$$

One can see directly that it is invariant under the following gauge variation

$$\delta A_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} \alpha \,. \tag{3.3}$$

In  $d \ge 2$  dimensions, we can find the propagating degrees of freedom by reducing the system to a bunch of Klein-Gordon equations. One can start by imposing the Lorenz<sup>3</sup> gauge  $\partial \cdot A = 0$  and fix the residual gauge on the parameter  $\alpha$  preserving this gauge  $\partial^2 \alpha = 0$ . There are *d* components in  $A_{\mu}$  and we imposed two equations by fixing the gauge so the number of propagating degrees of freedom is d - 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Other choices of gauge are useful, e.g. the Coulomb gauge  $\partial_i A^i = 0$  when studying semi-classical or non-relativistic regimes of Maxwell's theory. In the following, we will always remain manifestly Lorentz-covariant.

**Spin-2** The equations of motion for a linearised metric tensor  $h_{\mu\nu}$  (Fierz-Pauli) are

$$R_{\mu\nu}[h] = 0, \qquad (3.4)$$

by means of the linearised Ricci tensor, i.e. the trace of the linearised Riemann tensor

$$R_{\mu\nu}[h] = \partial^2 h_{\mu\nu} - 2\,\partial_{(\mu}\partial \cdot h_{\nu)} + \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h' = \partial^2 h_{\mu\nu} - 2\,\partial_{(\mu}D_{\nu)}[h]\,, \tag{3.5}$$

where  $\partial^2 = \partial_\mu \partial^\mu$ ,  $h' = \eta^{\mu\nu} h_{\mu\nu}$  and

$$D_{\mu}[h] \equiv \partial \cdot h_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} h' . \qquad (3.6)$$

Alternatively, if one knows nothing about General Relativity, one can re-derive this equation of motion by starting from the two-derivative term  $\partial^2 h_{\mu\nu}$  and adding traces and divergences such that this curvature becomes gauge-invariant under

$$\delta h_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)} \,. \tag{3.7}$$

*Exercise*: prove that the tensor (3.5) is invariant under (3.7).

Note that this is the linearisation of Einstein's vacuum equation if the background metric is already a solution of the full equations, which is the case for Minkowski space-time.

We can find the number of propagating degrees of freedom by imposing the De Donder gauge  $D_{\mu}[h] = 0$  and find the residual gauge transformations (i.e. the subset of linearised diffeomorphisms) that preserve this gauge. They are given by the harmonic gauge parameters, i.e. satisfying  $\partial^2 \xi_{\mu} = 0$ . All in all, we started with  $\frac{d(d+1)}{2}$  and imposed 2*d* conditions to go back to a harmonic system so we have  $\frac{(d-1)(d-2)}{2} - 1$ , in accordance with  $|\mathbb{Y}_{d-2}(2)|$ .

One can fix the gauge even further because both  $D_{\mu}[h] = 0$  and  $\partial^2 \xi_{\mu} = 0$  carry a Lorentz index (this does not affect the counting of degrees of freedom, but allows to recast the system in a more symmetric way). Indeed, on-shell one can impose separately  $\partial \cdot h_{\mu} = 0$  and h' = 0, which is preserved by parameters satisfying  $\partial \cdot \xi = 0$ . Note that one does the same in d = 4 by imposing a transverse-traceless gauge.

The completely reduced system reads

$$\partial^2 h_{\mu\nu} = 0, \quad \partial \cdot h_{\mu} = 0, \quad h' = 0,$$
 (3.8a)

$$\partial^2 \xi_{\mu} = 0, \quad \partial \cdot \xi = 0 . \tag{3.8b}$$

# 3.1.2 (A)dS space

We switch now to space-time of constant curvature, with metric  $\bar{g}$  defined in section 2.2.1 (the de Sitter case can be recovered by formally sending  $\ell^2 \rightarrow -\ell^2$  in all formulae) and associated Levi-Civita connection  $\nabla$ . The previous analysis remains largely unchanged, with the only modification being the appearance of terms proportional to the cosmological constant. These arise from the commutator of two covariant derivatives being non-zero, e.g. for a vector  $V^{\rho}$ ,

$$[\nabla_{\mu}, \nabla_{\nu}] V^{\rho} = -\frac{2}{\ell^2} \delta^{\rho}{}_{[\mu} V_{\nu]}, \qquad (3.9)$$

due to the Riemann tensor taking the expression of eq. (2.10)

Spin-1 Maxwell's equations in curved space can be written

$$0 = \nabla^{\mu} F_{\mu\nu}[A] = \nabla^{2} A_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu} D[A] - [\nabla^{\mu}, \nabla_{\nu}] A_{\mu} = \nabla^{2} A_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu} D[A] + \frac{d-1}{\ell^{2}} A_{\nu}, \qquad (3.10)$$

in terms of

$$F_{\mu\nu}[A] = 2\,\nabla_{[\mu}A_{\nu]}\,,\tag{3.11}$$

and  $D[A] = \nabla \cdot A$ . Upon gauge fixing, the equations of motion becomes

$$\nabla^2 A_{\mu} + \frac{d-1}{\ell^2} A_{\mu} = 0, \quad \nabla \cdot A = 0, \quad \nabla^2 \alpha = 0,$$
(3.12)

with  $\delta A_{\mu} = \nabla_{\mu} \alpha$ .

Spin-2 The equation of motion is the vanishing of the linearised Ricci tensor

$$0 = R_{\mu\nu}[h] \equiv \nabla^2 h_{\mu\nu} - 2\,\nabla^\alpha \nabla_{(\mu} h_{\nu)\,\alpha} + \nabla_\mu \nabla_\nu h' - 2\frac{d-1}{\ell^2}h_{\mu\nu}\,.$$
(3.13)

This can be recast as

$$0 = \nabla^2 h_{\mu\nu} - 2 \nabla_{(\mu} D_{\nu)} [h] + \frac{2}{\ell^2} \left( h_{\mu\nu} - \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} h' \right), \qquad (3.14)$$

with the De Donder tensor  $D_{\mu}[h] = \nabla \cdot h_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{\mu} h'$  (note the differences in the mass terms between this form and eq. (3.13), this is due to the commutation of covariant derivatives). Upon gauge fixing, the equations of motion read

$$\nabla^2 h_{\mu\nu} + \frac{2}{\ell^2} h_{\mu\nu} = 0, \quad \nabla \cdot h_{\mu} = 0, \quad h' = 0, \quad (3.15a)$$

$$\nabla^2 \xi_{\mu} - \frac{d-1}{\ell^2} \xi_{\mu} = 0, \quad \nabla \cdot \xi = 0,$$
(3.15b)

with  $\delta h_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{(\mu} \xi_{\nu)}$ . Note the appearance of the 'mass-like' term in eq. (3.13), which is necessary to guarantee the invariance of the equation of motion under linearised diffeomorphisms.

*Exercise:* recover the mass-like term in (3.13) by the requirement of gauge-invariance.

# 3.2 Fronsdal's equations of motion

After having reviewed in details the spin-1 and 2 cases, one can try to generalise to higher-spins. In order to remain as close as possible to the case of linearised gravity and write an action principle, one can start from a completely symmetric, *doubly traceless* field  $\phi_{\mu(s)}$ .

# 3.2.1 Flat space

For a doubly-traceless field  $\phi_{\mu(s)}$ , one defines the Fronsdal tensor [7, 8]

$$F_{\mu(s)}[\phi] = \partial^2 \phi_{\mu(s)} - s \,\partial_{\mu} \partial \cdot \phi_{\mu(s-1)} + \frac{s(s-1)}{2} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \phi'_{\mu(s-2)}$$

$$= \partial^2 \phi_{\mu(s)} - s \,\partial_{\mu} D_{\mu(s-1)}[\phi],$$
(3.16)

with the De Donder tensor naturally generalising eq. (3.6)

$$D_{\mu(s-1)}[\phi] = \partial \cdot \phi_{\mu(s-1)} - \frac{s-1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi'_{\mu(s-2)}.$$
(3.17)

Fronsdal's equations in flat space are given by

$$F_{\mu(s)}[\phi] = 0$$
 (e.o.m.), (3.18)

which are invariant under  $\delta \phi_{\mu(s)} = \partial_{\mu} \xi_{\mu(s-1)}$ , with  $\xi'_{\mu(s-3)} = 0$ . Both the condition that the field is doubly-traceless and the gauge parameter is traceless are new compared to the usual lower-spin examples.

*Exercise:* show that the Fronsdal tensor  $F_{\mu(s)}[\phi]$  is invariant under the gauge transformations  $\delta\phi_{\mu(s)} = \partial_{\mu}\xi_{\mu(s-1)}$  if and only if the gauge parameter  $\xi_{\mu(s-1)}$  is traceless.

We want to show that Fronsdal equations of motion propagate the right number of degrees of freedom, by going completely on-shell. To that end, we proceed like for the linearised spin-2 theory and fix the gauge by requiring

$$D_{\mu(s-1)}[\phi] = 0, \qquad (3.19)$$

which is preserved by

$$\partial^2 \xi_{\mu(s-1)} = 0. (3.20)$$

Furthermore, on-shell we can set the trace of  $\phi_{\mu(s)}$  to zero by virtue of  $\delta \phi'_{\mu(s-2)} = \partial \cdot \xi_{\mu(s-2)}$ , by imposing that  $\xi$  is divergence-free. One obtains the set of differential equations known as a Fierz system

$$\partial^2 \phi_{\mu(s)} = 0, \qquad \qquad \partial \cdot \phi_{\mu(s-1)} = 0, \qquad \qquad \phi'_{\mu(s-2)} = 0, \qquad (3.21a)$$

$$\partial^2 \xi_{\mu(s-1)} = 0, \qquad \qquad \partial \cdot \xi_{\mu(s-2)} = 0, \qquad \qquad \xi'_{\mu(s-3)} = 0, \qquad (3.21b)$$

with  $\delta \phi_{\mu(s)} = \partial_{\mu} \xi_{\mu(s-1)}$ .

Let us quickly count the number of propagating degrees of freedom and show it matches those of a massless field. The Fronsdal tensor has the same symmetries as the field, i.e. it is a rank *s* symmetric doubly traceless tensor with

$$|\mathbb{Y}_{d}(s)| + |\mathbb{Y}_{d}(s-2)| = \binom{d-1+s}{s} - \binom{d-5+s}{s-4},$$
(3.22)

while both the gauge fixing using the De Donder tensor  $D_{\mu(s-1)}[\phi]$  and the parameters verifying the residual gauge condition  $\partial^2 \xi_{\mu(s-1)} = 0$  are traceless

$$|\mathbb{Y}_d(s-1)| = \binom{d-2+s}{s-1} - \binom{d-4+s}{s-3}.$$
(3.23)

In total, we find that there are  $|\mathbb{Y}_d(s)| + |\mathbb{Y}_d(s-2)| - 2|\mathbb{Y}_d(s-1)|$  propagating degrees of freedom.

*Exercise:* check that this agrees with the expectation of eq. (2.8).

#### **3.2.2** (A)dS space

As with the case of linearised gravity, the basic form of the equations of motion does not change, except for the appearance of "mass-like" terms. In AdS, the Fronsdal tensor becomes

$$F_{\mu(s)}[\phi] = \nabla^2 \phi_{\mu(s)} - s \,\nabla_{\mu} D_{\mu(s-1)}[\phi] - \frac{1}{\ell^2} \left( (\ell m_s)^2 \,\phi_{\mu(s)} + s(s-1) \,\bar{g}_{\mu(2)} \,\phi'_{\mu(s-2)} \right). \tag{3.24}$$

with

$$D_{\mu(s-1)}[\phi] = \nabla \cdot \phi_{\mu(s-1)} - \frac{s-1}{2} \nabla_{\mu} \phi'_{\mu(s-2)}, \qquad (3.25)$$

together with  $\delta \phi_{\mu(s)} = \nabla_{\mu} \xi_{\mu(s-1)}$  and  $\xi'_{\mu(s-3)} = 0$ . There is a precise non-zero value of  $m_s^2$  such that gauge symmetry and the number of propagating d.o.f. are the same as in flat space. This is given by

$$(\ell m_s)^2 = (s-2)(s+d-3) - s.$$
(3.26)

This mass term can be seen to emerge from the representation theory of the (A)dS<sub>d</sub> in the case of completely symmetric bosonic fields [49]

$$(\ell m_s)^2 = E(E - d + 1) - s = (s - 2)(s + d - 3) - s, \qquad (3.27)$$

for E = s + d - 3.

By completely fixing the gauge, we obtain the (A)dS Fierz system

$$\nabla^{2} \phi_{\mu(s)} - m_{s}^{2} \phi_{\mu(s)} = 0, \qquad \nabla \cdot \phi_{\mu(s-1)} = 0, \qquad \phi'_{\mu(s-2)} = 0, \qquad (3.28a)$$

$$\nabla^{2} \xi_{\mu(s-1)} - m_{s}^{\prime 2} \xi_{\mu(s-1)} = 0, \qquad \nabla \cdot \xi_{\mu(s-2)} = 0, \qquad \xi'_{\mu(s-3)} = 0, \qquad (3.28b)$$

$${}^{2}\xi_{\mu(s-1)} - m'_{s}{}^{2}\xi_{\mu(s-1)} = 0, \qquad \nabla \cdot \xi_{\mu(s-2)} = 0, \qquad \xi'_{\mu(s-3)} = 0, \qquad (3.28b)$$

with  $\delta \phi_{\mu(s)} = \nabla_{\mu} \xi_{\mu(s-1)}$  and

$$(\ell m'_s)^2 = (s-1)(s+d-3).$$
(3.29)

Note that, contrary to flat space, when  $\Lambda \neq 0$ , there exist other discrete values of the "mass-like" parameters such that the number of propagating degrees of freedom lies between that of a massless field and that of a massive field. These points are called partially-massless [50, 51] and for spin s there are s - 1 of them numbered  $m_{s,t}$  for  $t \in \{1 \dots s - 1\}$ , with  $m_{s,0} = m_s$  corresponding to the massless case. One famous example is partially-massless gravity corresponding to s = 2 and t = 1, with  $(\ell m_{2,1})^2 = -d$  [52–54].

#### 3.3 Reducibility parameters

One can compute the reducibility parameters of the theory, i.e. the gauge variations preserving the vacuum solution  $\phi_{\mu(s)} = 0$  for  $s \ge 1$  (to be interpreted in the spin-2 case as the isometries of the backgroun). These are given in the Fronsdal formulation on a maximally symmetric background by the solutions of the equation

$$\nabla_{\mu}\xi_{\mu(s-1)} = 0, \qquad (3.30)$$

with traceless gauge parameter  $\xi_{\mu(s-1)}$ . Eq. (3.30) is a tensorial Killing equation, generalising the usual vectorial<sup>4</sup> Killing equation for s = 2. In flat space, its solutions are simply given by

$$\xi_{\mu(s-1)} = \sum_{t=0}^{s-1} M_{\mu(s-1),\nu(t)} x^{\nu} \cdots x^{\nu}, \qquad (3.31)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>In maximally symmetric space-times, traceless Killing tensors can always be written as symmetrised traceless products of Killing vectors.

for constant tensors  $M_{\mu(s-1),\nu(t)}$  which are in irreducible representations of the Lorentz group

$$\eta^{\mu\mu}M_{\mu(s-1),\nu(t)} = 0, \quad \eta^{\mu\nu}M_{\mu(s-1),\nu(t)} = 0, \quad \eta^{\nu\nu}M_{\mu(s-1),\nu(t)} = 0, \quad (3.32)$$

and the compatibility condition

$$M_{\mu(s-1),\mu\nu(t-1)} = 0. (3.33)$$

One can see that the solutions to the Killing equation (3.30) are tensors with the symmetries (this is also true in (A)dS space-time) [55, 56]

$$\mathbb{Y}_d(s-1), \quad \mathbb{Y}_d(s-1,1), \quad \dots, \quad \mathbb{Y}_d(s-1,s-1).$$
 (3.34)

In the s = 1 case, this gives rise to a single (scalar) generator of u(1) transformations, while in the s = 2 case we recover the canonical realisation of translations and Lorentz transformations

$$\xi^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} = a^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} + \omega^{\mu,\nu}x_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}, \qquad (3.35)$$

for t = 0 and t = 1 respectively. For higher-spins  $s \ge 3$ , they will be interpreted later as being the complete set of isometry generators of a spin-*s* field, in the frame-like formulation.

Note that these are the reducibility parameters of the *Fronsdal theory*. As we will see later, there exist also alternative formulations of the dynamics. However, the traceless tensorial Killing equation (3.30) always seems to pop up in any manifestly Lorentz-covariant formulation, so we will refer to these symmetries as higher-spin symmetries.

# 3.4 Fronsdal Lagrangian

For the equations of motion to have a chance of being Lagrangian, it is usually necessary that they have the same symmetries as the field  $\phi_{\mu(s)}$  itself. This is the case in the Fronsdal formulation. Let the Einstein-like action

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int d^d x \sqrt{-\bar{g}} \,\phi^{\mu(s)} G_{\mu(s)}[\phi] \,, \tag{3.36}$$

where the Einstein-like tensor is

$$G_{\mu(s)}[\phi] = F_{\mu(s)}[\phi] - \frac{s(s-1)}{4} \bar{g}_{\mu(2)} F'_{\mu(s-2)}[\phi].$$
(3.37)

Upon variation of the action (3.36) with respect to  $\phi$ , one recovers Fronsdal's equations modified by a trace term, but essentially

$$G_{\mu(s)}[\phi] = 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad F_{\mu(s)}[\phi] = 0, \tag{3.38}$$

as long as  $d \ge 3$ , because  $G''_{\mu(s-4)}[\phi] = F''_{\mu(s-4)}[\phi] = 0$ . One could wonder why considering this complicated Lagrangian and not directly  $\phi^{\mu(s)}F_{\mu(s)}[\phi]$ ? This is because of gauge invariance. Indeed,

$$\delta_{\xi}S = -\int d^d x \sqrt{-\bar{g}} \,\xi^{\mu(s-1)} B_{\mu(s-1)}[\phi] \,, \tag{3.39}$$

where the Bianchi tensor

$$B_{\mu(s-1)}[\phi] = \nabla \cdot G_{\mu(s-1)}[\phi] = \nabla \cdot F_{\mu(s-1)}[\phi] - \frac{s(s-1)}{4} \nabla_{\mu} F'_{\mu(s-2)}[\phi]$$
(3.40)

Simon Pekar

is a pure trace when  $\phi''_{\mu(s-4)} = 0$  (remember that, for a symmetric tensor, the double trace can be calculated by contracting any two disjoint pairs of indices, e.g.  $\phi^{\nu}{}_{\nu}{}^{\rho}{}_{\rho}{}^{\mu(s-4)}$ ). This is enough to ensure that the action (3.36) is gauge invariant, since in eq. (3.39) the gauge parameter  $\xi^{\mu(s-1)}$  is traceless, so its contraction with a pure trace gives zero.

*Exercise:* verify that this is indeed the Bianchi tensor is a pure trace if an only if  $\phi_{\mu(s)}$  is doubly-traceless.

#### 3.5 Alternative metric-like formulations

While the Fronsdal formulation is rather natural, there exist other formulations, each coming with their own set of benefits and disadvantages.

**Maxwell-like** One can find another formulation of spin  $s \ge 2$  that generalises the Maxwell action with traceless fields (instead of doubly traceless fields for (3.16) and (3.36)) [57, 58]. The number of propagating degrees of freedom of the Maxwell-like theory is the same, although the Lagrangian and the gauge transformations take a different form

$$M_{\mu(s)}[\phi] = \nabla^2 \phi_{\mu(s)} - s \,\nabla_{\mu} \nabla \cdot \phi_{\mu(s-1)} - m_s^2 \,\phi_{\mu(s)} \,, \tag{3.41}$$

with  $\phi'_{\mu(s-2)} = 0$ ,  $\delta \phi_{\mu(s)} = \nabla_{\mu} \xi_{\mu(s-1)}$  and  $\xi'_{\mu(s-3)} = \nabla \cdot \xi_{\mu(s-2)} = 0$ . This theory can be viewed as a partial gauge fixing of the Einstein-like theory. The differential constraint on the gauge parameter  $\xi_{\mu(s-1)}$  being divergence-free is here to ensure that the field  $\phi_{\mu(s)}$  remains traceless upon gauge variation. There is a Lagrangian formulation for the Maxwell-like theory

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int \sqrt{-\bar{g}} \,\phi^{\mu(s)} M_{\mu(s)}[\phi] \,. \tag{3.42}$$

Maxwell-like Lagrangians for theories with mixed-symmetry fields were built in [58], while cubic interactions were constructed in [59].

The unifying language of de Wit-Friedman curvatures One can recast the previous two formulations (Fronsdal or Einstein-like and Maxwell-like) into a unified setup by defining generalised curvatures. The de Wit-Friedman curvatures [60] are tensors with an increasing number of derivatives on the field. In the Fierz-Pauli theory for the field  $h_{\mu(2)}$ , we have

$$\Gamma^{0}{}_{\mu(2)} = h_{\mu(2)} \,, \tag{3.43a}$$

$$\Gamma^{1}{}_{\mu(2),\nu} = \partial_{\nu}h_{\mu(2)} - 2\,\partial_{\mu}h_{\mu\nu}\,, \qquad (3.43b)$$

$$\Gamma^{2}_{\mu(2),\nu(2)} = 2\left(\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\nu}h_{\mu(2)} - 2\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}h_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\mu}h_{\nu(2)}\right), \qquad (3.43c)$$

where  $\Gamma^0_{\mu(2)}$  is the field  $h_{\mu(2)}$  itself,  $\Gamma^1_{\mu(2),\nu}$  is proportional to the linearised Christoffel symbol and  $\Gamma^2_{\mu(2),\nu(2)}$  is proportional to the linearised Riemann tensor. The latter is invariant under  $\delta h_{\mu(2)} = \partial_{\mu} \xi_{\mu}$ . The higher-spin generalisation of this is given by

$$\Gamma^{0}_{\mu(s)} = \phi_{\mu(s)}, \quad \Gamma^{m}_{\mu(s),\nu(m)} = m \,\partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{m-1}_{\mu(s),\nu(m-1)} - s \,\partial_{\mu}\Gamma^{m-1}_{\mu(s-1)\nu,\nu(m-1)}, \tag{3.44}$$

with the last element of the hierarchy, i.e. for m = s, which plays the role of a gauge-invariant curvature. The variation of the curvatures under linearised diffeomorphisms is given by

$$\delta_{\xi} \Gamma^{m}{}_{\mu(s),\nu(m)} \propto \partial_{\mu} \dots \partial_{\mu} \xi_{\mu(s-m-1)\nu(m)}$$
(3.45)

and it can be seen that for m = s, the curvature  $\Gamma^{s}_{\mu(s),\nu(s)}$  is automatically invariant. The Fronsdal tensor is built out of the second curvature

$$F_{\mu(s)} = \eta^{\nu(2)} \Gamma^2_{\mu(s),\nu(2)}, \qquad (3.46)$$

while the Maxwell tensor out of the first curvature

$$M_{\mu(s)} = \partial^{\nu} \Gamma^{1}{}_{\mu(s),\nu} \,. \tag{3.47}$$

Theories built out of higher-order curvatures were formulated in [61]. They are higher-derivative and have in general a more complicated spectrum than a single massless fields, possibly with ghosts [62]. They can be recast in a two-derivative form by multiplying with inverse powers of the Laplacian  $\frac{1}{d^2}$  at the expense of locality.

**Compensator form** One might wonder what happens if we relax the doubly-traceless condition. This is known as the unconstrained formulation, and in this case the equations of motion are non-Lagrangian. Consider a Fronsdal equation for a traceful  $\phi_{\mu(s)}$  and gauge parameter  $\xi_{\mu(s-1)}$ 

$$F_{\mu(s)}[\phi] = 3 \,\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\alpha_{\mu(s-3)} \,, \tag{3.48}$$

where  $\alpha_{\mu(s-3)}$  is called a compensator field such that

$$\delta \alpha_{\mu(s-3)} = \xi'_{\mu(s-3)} \,. \tag{3.49}$$

The equations of motion for this system reproduce the same dynamics upon gauge fixing since the gauge transformation of  $\alpha$  is algebraic [63–65].

**Dual formulations** If one performs a dualisation (contraction with a Levi-Civita tensor) of the field strengths defined in 3.5, one obtains one of the *dual* formulations of the dynamics, in terms of fields with mixed symmetry. For gravity, this was studied in [66, 67]. For higher-spin fields, see [65, 68–70]. The interest in studying these seemingly exotic (and more complicated) formulations relies on the difficulty of constructing interactions (see the next section). While cubic interactions can be constructed without problems from the Fronsdal Lagrangian. Even if it has been shown that for gravity, no quartic interactions can be constructed in this form [71], it might be that quartic interactions are easier to construct (or only exist in a local form) in the dual formulation of higher-spin fields. The dual formulation also has the advantage of making some symmetries more visible.

# 3.6 Constructing interactions

Now that the free theory is identified, we turn to the task of constructing interactions order by order, perturbatively in a small coupling constant. We will follow the method of [72], which reproduces the full Yang-Mills and gravity theory from the free action.

#### 3.6.1 Noether procedure

In this section, we follow the review [73]. Let us start with a Lagrangian depending on a set of fields  $\psi$  (Maxwell, linearised graviton, Fronsdal etc.) and try to add interaction terms

$$S[\psi] = S_2[\psi] + g S_3[\psi] + O(g^2), \qquad (3.50)$$

where  $S_2[\psi]$  is quadratic in  $\psi$ ,  $S_3[\psi]$  cubic, etc. The action should be invariant under the gauge transformations

$$\delta\psi = \delta_0\psi + g\,\delta_1\psi + O(g^2)\,,\tag{3.51}$$

where  $\delta_0 \psi$  is field-independent,  $\delta_1 \psi$  is linear in  $\psi$  etc. We expand  $\delta S[\psi] = 0$  order-by-order to obtain equations of the form

$$\delta_0 S_2[\psi] = 0, \quad \delta_1 S_2[\psi] + \delta_0 S_3[\psi] = 0, \quad \dots$$
(3.52)

In the case of Fronsdal theory,  $S_2[\psi]$  is given by the Fronsdal Lagrangian (3.36), and we have at lowest order

$$\delta_0 \phi_{\mu(s)} = \nabla_\mu \xi_{\mu(s-1)} \,, \tag{3.53}$$

generating Abelian gauge transformations (more on this in the next section). The goal is to find next  $\delta_1$  and  $S_3$  that verify these conditions, and possibly higher order conditions, known as quartic consistency conditions.

Note that as we go on, we have more and more complicated equations with more and more unknowns (actions and gauge transformations) that are subject to field-redefinition ambiguities (see, e.g., the discussion in [31]).

#### 3.6.2 Abelian vs non-Abelian gauge transformations

There is a natural associative structure associated to gauge transformations that gives rise to a bracket. For two gauge transformations  $\delta_{\alpha}$  and  $\delta_{\beta}$  acting on a field  $\psi$ , we define

$$[\delta_{\alpha}, \delta_{\beta}]\psi = (\delta_{\alpha}\delta_{\beta} - \delta_{\beta}\delta_{\alpha})\psi.$$
(3.54)

It will prove interesting to distinguish between two classes of gauge transformations for higher-spin fields: Abelian and non-Abelian. Abelian gauge transformation  $\delta_{\xi}$  are such that

$$[\delta_{\xi}, \delta_{\xi'}]\phi_{\mu(s)} = 0. \tag{3.55}$$

It is trivial to see that the gauge transformations  $\delta_0$  given in (3.53) are Abelian, since they do not depend on the field. On the other hand, non-Abelian gauge transformations  $\delta_{\chi}$  are such that

$$[\delta_{\chi}, \delta_{\chi'}]\phi_{\mu(s)} \neq 0. \tag{3.56}$$

We need at least gauge transformations that are linear in  $\phi$  for the right-hand side to be non-zero, so non-Abelian gauge transformations are generated by  $\delta_1$  at least. At lowest order, the non-Abelian gauge transformations evaluated on reducibility parameters are field-independent, and so they generate a Lie algebra, provided that all necessary fields and gauge parameters are introduced.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>For higher orders, we will have in general an algebroid since the structure constants are field-dependent.

In practice, higher-spin self-interaction can only be made gauge invariant if one introduces fields of all spin [72] (this also emerges as a consistency requirement at the quartic order), pointing to an infinite-dimensional Lie algebra (see, however [74] for obstructions in the case of spin-3 self-interactions).

Furthermore, the action of gauge transformation is associative on the space of fields, so the algebra generated by non-Abelian gauge transformations must satisfy the Jacobi identity

$$[\delta_{\chi}, \delta_{\chi'}], \delta_{\chi''}]\phi_{\mu(s)} + \text{cyclic} = 0.$$
(3.57)

At lowest order, this means simply that the algebra is Lie. However, if we write  $[\delta_{\chi}, \delta_{\chi'}]\phi = \delta_{\alpha}\phi$ with  $\alpha$  a function of  $\phi$ ,  $\chi$  and  $\chi'$  as it is the case for higher-order structure constant, this turns into a non-trivial statement to be verified at each order for the consistency of the theory. A summary of the procedure is displayed in table 1.

Order	Theory	Gauge symmetries	Algebraic quantities
Quadratic	$S_2$ given in eq. (3.36)	$\delta_0 \phi = \nabla \xi$	Spectrum of generators
Cubic	$S_3 = O(\phi^3)$	$\delta_1 \phi = O(\chi, \phi)$	Structure constants
Quartic	$S_4 = O(\phi^4)$	$\delta_2 \phi = O(\chi, \phi^2)$	Jacobi identity, ?

Table 1: Strategy for the Noether procedure and translation in terms of the underlying algebraic structure.

The hope is that the identification of a non-Abelian Lie algebra emerging from the non-Abelian cubic gauge transformations in the case of higher-spin would be enough to completely determine the fully interacting theory, as is the case in the gauge (or Cartan) formulation of General Relativity. In the following, we will see that, although a gauge algebra can be defined (only in AdS space-time within this procedure), some obstructions arise at the level of quartic interactions.

#### 3.6.3 Cubic vertices

We apply the previous procedure to the case of Yang-Mills, gravitational and higher-spin selfinteractions. In the case of higher-spin, the algebra does not close already at the level of spin-3 self-interactions. We then discuss the coupling of higher-spin fields to gravity.

**Yang-Mills** In the case of Yang-Mills theory (one needs a non-Abelian gauge group for odd spin self-interactions), one finds that the only cubic terms allowed by gauge invariance and that are not subject to field redefinition contain either one or three derivatives. The terms with three derivatives are of Born-Infeld type (constructed from curvatures) and do not deform the algebra of gauge transformations, while the terms with only one derivative can be shown to generate Yang-Mills couplings

$$S_{3}[A] = \int d^{d}x \, f_{abc} A_{\mu}{}^{a} \partial^{\mu} A_{\nu}{}^{b} A^{\nu c} \,, \qquad (3.58)$$

for some structure constants  $f_{abc}$  that are antisymmetric in the last two indices and

$$\delta_1 A_{\mu}{}^a = -f^a{}_{bc} \xi^b A_{\mu}{}^c \,. \tag{3.59}$$

By pushing the procedure to the next order, we find the full Yang-Mills theory with a quartic term, together with the requirement that the structure constants  $f_{abc}$  verify the Jacobi identity. The deformation procedure stops (i.e.  $\delta_2 = 0$  and  $S_{n \ge 5}[A] = 0$ ) at this order.

**Gravity** For spin-2 self-interaction, the work of deriving the spin-2 self-interaction was first done in [75–79]. It was shown that the Noether procedure indeed reproduces the weak-field expansion of Einstein's General theory of Relativity, together with the correct linearisation of general diffeomorphism transformations, up to cubic order.

**Higher-spin** The spin-three self-coupling term constructed through the Noether procedure [80] was shown [72] to generate non-Abelian gauge transformations that do not close (i.e. they do not form an algebra). This was the first hint that any candidate higher-spin algebra should be infinite dimensional.

The classification of all cubic vertices  $s_1 - s_2 - s_3$  for higher-spin fields of spin  $s_1$ ,  $s_2$  and  $s_3$  was performed in [9, 74, 81–92], see also [22, 59]. One remarkable feature is that, in flat space the number of derivatives for the cubic coupling to gravity (i.e. of the form s - s - 2) is bounded by below. Indeed one can try an Ansatz of the form

$$S_2[h] + S_2[\phi] + g \int d^d x \, W_{\mu(2),\nu(2)} \beta^{\mu(2),\nu(2)}(\phi,\phi) \,, \tag{3.60}$$

where  $S_2[h]$  and  $S_2[\phi]$  are the Fierz-Pauli and Fronsdal actions respectively,  $W_{\mu(2),\nu(2)}$  is the linearised (spin-2) Weyl tensor and  $\beta^{\mu(2),\nu(2)}$  is a tensorial expression quadratic in higher-spin field  $\phi_{\mu(s)}$ . It turns out that this expression is the most general one for a s - s - 2 cubic coupling (since the spin-2 free equation of motion sets the linearised Ricci to zero, only the Weyl can contribute) and can never be gauge invariant, for any choice of  $\beta^{\mu(2),\nu(2)}$ .

In AdS instead, this type of cubic vertex can be made gauge invariant by adding terms with higher derivatives. This is known as the Fradkin-Vasiliev mechanism (see [4] or [1] for a review, while the uniqueness of the Fradkin-Vasiliev mechanism was proven in [88]). The structure of cubic vertices with gravity is the following

# of derivatives	2	4	 2s - 4	2s - 2	2 <i>s</i>	2s + 2
Flat	X	×	 ×	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$
(A)dS	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	 $\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$

**Table 2:** Cubic vertices for the coupling of a spin s > 2 field with gravity. The 2s and 2s + 2-derivative vertices are of Born-Infeld type. Only the 2s - 2 vertex is non-Abelian and starting from it, one is able to reconstruct the tail of lower-derivative terms in (A)dS from gauge invariance, while in flat space it is automatically gauge-invariant. For s > 2 in flat space, there is no minimal (2-derivative) deformation of the Fronsdal Lagrangian coupled to gravity, in agreement with the Weinberg low-energy theorem A.1, while such a 2-derivative coupling exists when  $\Lambda \neq 0$  as a consequence of  $[\nabla, \nabla] \neq 0$ . In flat space and in the light-cone formulation, a 2-derivative vertex has been found [81, 93, 94] and is at the centre of the light-cone formulation of higher-spin gravity [95].

The non-Abelian cubic vertex with (2s - 2) derivatives hints at a (non-Abelian) algebra of gauge transformations. This algebra will play a central role in the frame-like formulation of the dynamics, see section 4. The full set of cubic vertices arising from the gauging of the (AdS) higher-spin algebra are presented in [2, 4], while their relations with CFT 3-point functions in the holographic setup was summarised in [96].

# 3.6.4 Beyond cubic vertices

While the cubic story is well under control, some obstructions arise at the level of quartic coupling (see [23, 97–99] for a summary). The difficulty is four-fold:

- first, there is a technical difficulty due to the increasing number of terms that we have to consider for quartic vertices,
- secondly, quartic vertices are subject to field-redefinition ambiguities,
- thirdly, there is a difficulty to construct perturbatively local quartic vertices within the Noether procedure,
- lastly, as we will briefly discuss below, there is evidence supporting the non-locality of the theory from CFT arguments.

The CFT non-locality argument [98, 99] is as follows: within the AdS/CFT correspondence, higher-spin bulk *n*-point interactions can be matched with CFT *n*-point correlation functions. The conjectured CFT dual of Vasiliev theory being particularly simple [5, 6], correlators are easily computed. One can then compare, in a certain regime of the kinematical data, the CFT 4-point function and AdS quartic amplitudes arising from tree-level exchange diagrams in the *s*, *t* and *u* channels. The difference between the two should correspond to the 'truly quartic' contribution, i.e. the contact term. Surprisingly, one finds that the contribution of the contact term to the total amplitude is proportional to the contribution of the exchange diagrams, which is a non-local object since it involves interactions computed at two points in AdS with separation  $\gg \ell$ ). Whether this indicates a complete breakdown of the local character of the higher-spin theory, or that a different formulation should be found is still not completely clear.

Note that there are also different approaches to writing down interactions, for instance the BV-BRST one (see [100-106]).

# 4. Frame-like formulation

Having presented the metric-like formulation, and highlighted the existence of an underlying non-Abelian gauge algebra responsible for the non-Abelian cubic vertices coupling higher-spin fields to gravity, we now begin our quest for an independent definition of a higher-spin algebra that would capture the known non-Abelian cubic vertices and help towards the definition of a fully interacting theory.

We begin with some reminders of Einstein-Cartan theory with and without a cosmological constant, putting emphasis on the linearised theory. Then, we explain how to recover the metric-like Fronsdal theory from a generalisation of the Cartan approach to gravity setup, using gauge potentials with higher indices. Contrary to the linearised spin-2 case, more fields are necessary to make the formulation gauge-invariant and we explain how the extra fields relate to the Fronsdal field, as well as their role in respect to the symmetry generators of the free theory found in section 3.3. We conclude by giving the initial data for a putative higher-spin algebra as well as a tentative construction.

In this section, we will deal with differential forms. For example, a 1-form  $M = M_{\mu}dx^{\mu}$  has exterior derivative  $dM = \partial_{\mu}M_{\nu} dx^{\mu} \wedge dx^{\nu}$ .

# 4.1 Reminder: (linearised) gravity à la Cartan

The Cartan view of General Relativity is that of local observers with their own coordinate frames. In mathematical terms, gravity is formulated geometrically as a theory over a principal bundle, whose base manifold is space-time and whose fibre is Lie-algebra-valued. Space-time is a model (homogeneous) coset space, and the Einstein-Cartan theory is built using the curvature of the Ehresmann connection associated to Lorentz transformations.

In physical terms, we write gravity as a gauge theory based on the Poincaré (or (A)dS) algebra, and gauge symmetry is given by local Lorentz transformations. From the connection one-form known as the vielbein  $e_{\mu}{}^{a}$  and spin connection  $\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab}$ , associated to translations and Lorentz transformations respectively, one can build the quantities  $g_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu}{}^{a}e_{\nu}{}^{b}\eta_{ab}$  and  $e^{\mu}{}_{a}e^{\nu}{}_{b}R_{\mu\nu}{}^{ab}$ , invariant under local Lorentz transformations and interpreted as the metric and the Riemann tensor.

# 4.1.1 Flat space

Let's start again with a real form of the Poincaré algebra, where we eliminated the factor of i in (2.1). The indices of the generators whose indices will now be named as fibre indices.

$$[J_{ab}, J_{cd}] = \eta_{bc} J_{ad} - \eta_{ac} J_{bd} - \eta_{bd} J_{ac} + \eta_{ad} J_{bc}, \qquad (4.1a)$$

$$[J_{ab}, P_c] = \eta_{bc} P_a - \eta_{ac} P_b, \qquad (4.1b)$$

$$[P_a, P_b] = 0, (4.1c)$$

with flat Minkowski metric  $\eta_{ab}$ . We introduce a gauge potential taking values in this algebra

$$A_{\mu} = e_{\mu}{}^{a}P_{a} + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab}J_{ab}, \qquad (4.2)$$

where we require that  $e_{\mu}{}^{a}$  be non-degenerate (local frame), and gauge parameters

$$\xi = \xi^a P_a + \frac{1}{2} \lambda^{ab} J_{ab} , \qquad (4.3)$$

such that  $\delta A_{\mu} = D_{\mu}\xi = \partial_{\mu}\xi + [A_{\mu},\xi]$ . The curvature of the gauge potential is  $F = DA = dA + \frac{1}{2}[A, A]$ , or in components

$$F_{\mu\nu} = 2\,\partial_{[\mu}A_{\nu]} + [A_{\mu}, A_{\nu}] = T_{\mu\nu}{}^{a}P_{a} + \frac{1}{2}R_{\mu\nu}{}^{ab}J_{ab}\,, \qquad (4.4)$$

with

$$T_{\mu\nu}{}^{a} = 2 D_{[\mu} e_{\nu]}{}^{a} = 2 \partial_{[\mu} e_{\nu]}{}^{a} + 2 \omega_{[\mu}{}^{ab} e_{\nu]b}, \qquad (4.5a)$$

$$R_{\mu\nu}{}^{ab} = 2 D_{[\mu} \omega_{\nu]}{}^{ab} = 2 \partial_{[\mu} \omega_{\nu]}{}^{ab} + 2 \omega_{[\mu}{}^{ca} \omega_{\nu]c}{}^{b}, \qquad (4.5b)$$

and

$$\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a} = \partial_{\mu}\xi^{a} + \omega_{\mu}{}^{a}{}_{b}\xi^{b} - \lambda^{a}{}_{b}e_{\mu}{}^{b}, \qquad (4.6a)$$

$$\delta \omega_{\mu}{}^{ab} = \partial_{\mu} \lambda^{ab} + 2 \omega_{\mu}{}^{c[a} \lambda^{b]}{}_{c} .$$
(4.6b)

In the case of gravity, it is standard to eliminate the spin connection while keeping the vielbein (representing the metric). This can be achieved by setting  $T_{\mu\nu}{}^a = 0$  (torsionless) and build an action

which is invariant under local Lorentz transformations (and general coordinate redefinition). This is the Einstein-Cartan action

$$S_{\rm EC} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^d x \,\det(e) \,e^{\mu}{}_a e^{\nu}{}_b R_{\mu\nu}{}^{ab} \,, \tag{4.7a}$$

$$= \frac{1}{(d-2)!} \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int \epsilon_{a_1 \cdots a_D} \left( d\omega^{a_1 a_2} + \omega^{b a_1} \wedge \omega_b^{a_2} \right) \wedge e^{a_3} \wedge \cdots \wedge e^{a_D} .$$
(4.7b)

To prove that this action is equivalent to the Einstein-Hilbert action, we vary with respect to  $\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab}$  and take the wedge product with one extra vielbein to recover the torsion constraint

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{\ a} = 0$$
 (e.o.m.), (4.8)

which we solve as

$$\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab} = 2 \, e^{\rho [a} \partial_{[\mu} e_{\rho]}{}^{b]} - e_{\mu c} e^{\rho a} e^{\nu b} \partial_{[\rho} e_{\nu]}{}^{c} \,. \tag{4.9}$$

Let us stress that the torsionless condition is an equation of motion obtained from the Einstein-Cartan action. Defining  $g_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu}{}^{a} e_{\nu}{}^{b} \eta_{ab}$ , it then becomes an interesting exercise to plug back the expression for  $\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab}$  inside the action to find the Einstein-Hilbert action.

*Exercise:* check that the metric  $g_{\mu\nu} = e_{\mu}{}^{a} e_{\nu}{}^{b} \eta_{ab}$  and the action (4.7) are invariant under the gauge transformations (4.6) with parameter  $\lambda^{ab}$  (prove first that the determinant det(*e*) is gauge invariant, and that  $R_{\mu\nu}{}^{ab}$  transforms as a tensor in its fibre indices).

Linearised gravity Let us delve further on the linearised case. Let's write

$$e^a = h^a + \tilde{e}^a, \quad \omega^{ab} = 0 + \tilde{\omega}^{ab}, \qquad (4.10)$$

with  $h_{\mu}{}^{a} = \delta_{\mu}{}^{a}$  and forget about the tilde. The expansion of the action (4.7) up to quadratic order in the fields *e* and  $\omega$  is, up to a pre-factor,

$$\int \epsilon_{a_1 \cdots a_d} \left( de^{a_1} + \frac{1}{2} h_b \wedge \omega^{ba_1} \right) \wedge \omega^{a_2 a_3} \wedge h^{a_4} \wedge \cdots h^{a_d} .$$
(4.11)

Varying it with respect to  $\omega$  yields the equation of motion

$$de^a + h_b \wedge \omega^{ba} = 0 \qquad (\text{e.o.m.}), \qquad (4.12)$$

which is equivalent to the vanishing of the linearised torsion. This action has an obvious gauge symmetry given by  $\delta e^a = d\xi^a$  that was absent in the non-linear action. In other words, linearised diffeomorphisms are a gauge symmetry of the linearised Einstein Cartan action. Since there is an algebraic gauge transformation

$$\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a} = -\lambda^{a}{}_{b} h_{\mu}{}^{b} = \lambda_{\mu}{}^{a}, \qquad (4.13)$$

we can exploit completely local Lorentz invariance to choose the metric gauge

$$e^{[b;a]} = 0 \qquad (\text{gauge fixing}), \tag{4.14}$$

where the notation  $e^{b;a} = \eta^{\mu b} e_{\mu}{}^{a}$  is here to suggest that, in the linearised theory, we can treat the frame and the world indices on the same footing, but that  $e_{\mu}{}^{a}$  has no particular symmetry. Therefore, the degrees of freedom of the linearised metric are already accessible<sup>6</sup> in  $e_{\mu}{}^{a}$  and it should come as no surprise that, upon imposing the vanishing of the torsion obtained by varying with respect to  $\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab}$ , we obtain the Fierz-Pauli action for the linearised spin-2 fluctuation  $h_{\mu\nu} = 2 h_{(\mu}{}^{a} e_{\nu)a}$ .

Note also that studying the integrability of the torsion equation (4.12) gives the Bianchi identity

$$0 = d\left(de^{a} + h_{b} \wedge \omega^{ba}\right) = -h_{b} \wedge d\omega^{ba} = \frac{1}{2}h_{b} \wedge R^{ab}, \qquad (4.15)$$

where the linearised curvature is  $R^{ab} = 2 d\omega^{ab}$  and we used  $d^2 = 0$  as well as  $dh_b = 0$ . The equation  $h_b \wedge R^{ab} = 0$  is also equivalent, upon expressing  $\omega^{ab}$  as a function of the linearised vielbein, to setting to zero the trace of the linearised Riemann tensor, which is the equation of motion imposed by the Fierz-Pauli action.

# 4.1.2 (A)dS space-time

We now turn to the case of (A)dS space-time. The previous results will be largely unaffected by the presence of the cosmological constant. Indeed, gauging the AdS algebra instead of the Poincaré one only introduces an extra term appearing in the curvature  $R_{\mu\nu}{}^{ab} \rightarrow R_{\mu\nu}{}^{ab} + \frac{2}{\ell^2}e_{[\mu}{}^ae_{\nu]}{}^b$ . Local Lorentz transformations are the same. One can then reconstruct the Einstein-Hilbert action with cosmological constant by the requirement that the equations of motion reproduce Einstein's equations with a cosmological constant.

In the linearised case, one can choose a background  $h^a$  and  $\varpi^{ab}$  (we will again drop the tilde)

$$e^{a} = h^{a} + \tilde{e}^{a}, \quad \omega^{ab} = \overline{\omega}^{ab} + \tilde{\omega}^{ab}, \qquad (4.16)$$

where the background vielbein  $h^a$  and covariant derivative  $\nabla$  verify

$$\nabla h^a = 0, \quad \nabla^2 s^{a_1 \cdots a_s} = -\frac{1}{\ell^2} \left( h^{a_1} \wedge h_b \wedge s^{b a_2 \cdots a_s} + \dots + h^{a_s} \wedge h_b \wedge s^{a_1 \cdots a_{s-1}b} \right), \tag{4.17}$$

for any *p*-form  $s^{a_1 \cdots a_s}$  (no particular symmetry on the fibre indices is assumed), where the linearised covariant derivative is defined as  $\nabla = d + \varpi$ .<sup>7</sup>

As an example, let us write the vanishing of the linearised torsion

$$\nabla e^a + h_b \wedge \omega^{ba} = 0 \quad (\text{e.o.m.}). \tag{4.18}$$

By studying the integrability of the previous equation under  $\nabla$ , we get the Bianchi identity

$$\nabla T^{a} = 2\left(\nabla^{2}e^{a} - h_{b} \wedge \nabla \omega^{ba}\right) = h_{b} \wedge \left(R^{ab} + \frac{4}{\ell^{2}}h^{a} \wedge e^{b}\right), \tag{4.19}$$

where  $R^{ab} = 2 \nabla \omega^{ab} = 2 (d\omega^{ab} + 2 \overline{\omega}^{c[a} \wedge \omega_c{}^{b]})$ . For  $T^a = 0$ , this gives a second equation of motion, which is the consequence of the zero torsion condition, and is precisely the linearised Fierz-Pauli equation of motion upon replacing  $\omega$  by its expression in terms of e.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The linearised metric reads  $h_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu} = (h_{\mu}{}^a + e_{\mu}{}^a) (h_{\nu}{}^b + e_{\nu}{}^b) \eta_{ab} - \eta_{\mu\nu} = 2 h_{(\mu}{}^a e_{\nu)a} + O(e^2).$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>What we mean with this notation is that there is a non-zero spin connection piece in the covariant derivative, acting on the fibre indices, e.g.,  $\nabla T^a{}_b = dT^a{}_b + \varpi_c{}^a \wedge T^c{}_b - \varpi^c{}_b \wedge T^a{}_c$ .

On the other hand, if one wants to generalise the action (4.11), one needs to be more careful. Upon replacing the exterior derivative d with a covariant exterior derivative  $\nabla$ , one can see that the action is no longer invariant under the transformations  $\delta \omega^{ab} = \nabla \lambda^{ab}$ . This can be cured by introducing terms proportional to the cosmological constant of the form

$$\frac{1}{\ell^2} \int \epsilon_{a_1 \dots a_d} e^{a_1} \wedge e^{a_2} \wedge h^{a_3} \wedge \dots \wedge h^{a_d}, \qquad (4.20)$$

which do not affect the torsionless condition, since they are independent of  $\omega^{ab}$ .

*Exercise:* find the proportionality constant in front of the gauge-restoring term (4.20) such that the total action is gauge-invariant.

#### 4.2 Fronsdal's equations from vielbein and spin connection

The vielbein and spin-connection are the bread and butter of gravity in the Cartan form. The former contains the physical degrees of freedom while the latter is purely auxiliary and is related to the former via the torsion constraint. The equations of motion are expressed in terms of covariant quantities (while the action is gauge-invariant), and the curvature of the spin-connection is conveniently two-derivative in terms of the vielbein. We will now explain how to extend this two-field construction to higher-spins. While the spirit of the construction remains the same, contrary to gravity the higher-spin connection is not completely determined in terms of the higher vielbein via a torsion constraint, but the remaining portion is pure gauge.

# 4.2.1 Flat space

One rather unnatural feature of the Fronsdal equation is the fact that we have to deal with fields which are doubly traceless. This has however a natural interpretation in the frame formulation. We can guess that the correct embedding of a Fronsdal field inside of a generalised frame has one space-time index and is symmetric and traceless in its fibre indices. By converting space-time indices to fibre via the background vielbein  $h_{\mu}{}^{a} = \delta_{\mu}{}^{a}$ , the frame field  $e^{b;a(s-1)}$  has the symmetry of the diagrams given by (see also (B.15))

$$e^{b;a(s-1)} \sim \square \otimes \boxed{s-1} = \boxed{s} \oplus \boxed{s-2} \oplus \boxed{s-1}, \quad (4.21)$$

that is to say, it contains a traceless symmetric part of rank *s*, a traceless symmetric part of rank s-2and a traceless hook component. The two symmetric parts can be combined to form a Fronsdal field  $\phi^{a(s)} = e^{a;a(s-1)}$ , which is doubly-traceless, since any double trace will necessarily involve (at least) a single trace in the fibre indices, which vanishes by hypothesis. The field  $\phi^{a(s)}$  indeed transforms in the expected way, with a symmetric and traceless gauge parameter  $\xi_{a(s-1)}$  such that

$$\delta e_{a;a(s-1)} = \partial_a \xi_{a(s-1)} \,. \tag{4.22}$$

Yet, the field  $e^{b;a(s-1)}$  contains more components than just a Fronsdal field. Let us write an action which generalises the linearised Einstein-Cartan action of eq. (4.11)

$$\int \epsilon_{a_1\dots a_d} \left( de^{a_1 b(s-2)} - \frac{1}{2} h_c \wedge \omega^{a_1 b(s-2),c} \right) \wedge \omega_{b(s-2)}^{a_2,a_3} \wedge h^{a_4} \wedge \dots \wedge h^{a_d}, \qquad (4.23)$$

formulated in terms of the generalised vielbein  $e^{a(s-1)}$  and a 'spin connection'  $\omega^{a(s-1),b}$ . This action actually does not depend on the hook component of  $e^{b;a(s-1)}$ , which is manifest in the fact that it is gauge invariant under the transformations

$$\delta e^{a(s-1)} = d\xi^{a(s-1)} - h_b \lambda^{a(s-1),b}, \quad \delta \omega^{a(s-1),b} = d\lambda^{a(s-1),b}.$$
(4.24)

This allows one to set to zero the unwanted degrees of freedom by imposing a metric-like gauge,

$$e^{\lfloor b;a\rfloor a(s-2)} = 0 \qquad (\text{gauge fixing}). \tag{4.25}$$

Varying the action with respect to  $\omega$ , we find the following torsion constraint

$$T^{a(s-1)} \equiv de^{a(s-1)} - h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b} = 0 \qquad (\text{e.o.m.}), \tag{4.26}$$

which allows to express *some* components of  $\omega$  as a function of the derivative of *e*. The field  $\omega^{a(s-1),b}$  has actually more components than the ones fixed by the vanishing of the torsion, but they do not enter the action (we will come back to this shortly). When putting the expression for  $\omega$  back inside of the action, we should recover the Fronsdal action. Alternatively, one can check the integrability of eq. (4.26)

$$0 = dT^{a(s-1)} = d\left(de^{a(s-1)} - h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b}\right) = h_b \wedge d\omega^{a(s-1),b}, \qquad (4.27)$$

and one should obtain the Fronsdal equation of motion. This can either be verified directly, or can be argued on more general grounds, as follows:

- the field  $e^{a(s-1)}$  (after gauge fixing the hook component to zero) has the same symmetries and gauge transformations as a Fronsdal field  $\phi^{a(s)}$ ,
- the components of  $\omega^{a(s-1),b}$  that are expressed in terms of  $\phi^{a(s)}$  are first-derivative,
- the action is quadratic in  $\phi^{a(s)}$ , contains two derivative and it is gauge invariant,

so it must be the Fronsdal action (or vanish identically).

*Exercise (harder):* show that the equations of motion are indeed those of Fronsdal.

#### 4.2.2 (A)dS space

As was the case for gravity, if one replaces the exterior derivative with a covariant one, the action

$$\int \epsilon_{a_1\dots a_d} \left( \nabla e^{a_1 b(s-2)} - \frac{1}{2} h_c \wedge \omega^{a_1 b(s-2),c} \right) \wedge \omega_{b(s-2)}^{a_2,a_3} \wedge h^{a_4} \wedge \dots \wedge h^{a_d}$$
(4.28)

is no longer gauge invariant under variations involving  $\lambda^{a(s-1),b}$ . This can be corrected by adding terms of the form

$$\frac{1}{\ell^2} \int \epsilon_{a_1\dots a_d} e^{a_1 b(s-2)} \wedge e^{a_2}{}_{b(s-2)} \wedge h^{a_3} \wedge \dots \wedge h^{a_d}, \qquad (4.29)$$

which do not affect the torsionless condition, since they do not involve  $\omega^{a(s-1),b}$ . The variation with respect to the latter yields the usual equation of motion<sup>8</sup>

$$T^{a(s-1)} \equiv \nabla e^{a(s-1)} - h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b} = 0 \qquad (\text{e.o.m.}).$$
(4.30)

Its integrability under  $\nabla$  gives

$$0 = \nabla T^{a(s-1)} = \nabla^2 e^{a(s-1)} + h_b \wedge \nabla \omega^{a(s-1),b} = h_b \wedge T^{a(s-1),b}, \qquad (4.31)$$

where the second torsion  $T^{a(s-1),b}$  is defined as

$$T^{a(s-1),b} = \nabla \omega^{a(s-1),b} + \frac{1}{\ell^2} \sigma_+ \left( h^b \wedge e^{a(s-1)} \right), \qquad (4.32)$$

and where  $\sigma_+(...)$  implements the projection of the indices to match the symmetry of the left-hand side. From there, one can plug back in the action and verify that it is equivalent to the Fronsdal Lagrangian in (A)dS.

#### 4.3 Complete set of auxiliary fields from the reducibility parameters

As advertised, the equations (4.26) and (4.27) are actually the first of a long series, which is due to the fact that the spin connection has more components than the ones fixed by the torsion constraint. This is also closely linked to the *reducibility parameters*, aka the vacuum-preserving symmetries of the theory, described in section 3.3.

# 4.3.1 Flat space

In order to remove the extra component of  $e^{b;a(s-1)}$ , we introduced a new gauge parameter  $\lambda^{a(s-1),b}$  which precisely has the structure of a hook, such that  $\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a(s-1)} = -\eta_{\mu b} \lambda^{a(s-1),b}$ . We can then algebraically fix the hook component in  $e_{\mu}{}^{a(s-1)}$  to zero, similarly to the metric gauge in linearised Cartan gravity. Since each new gauge parameter are associated to a symmetry, we have a new generator  $Z^{a(s-1),b}$ , and a new field  $\omega_{\mu}{}^{a(s-1),b}$  whose components are given by the right-hand-side of (B.16) for t = 1. The only gauge-invariant equation that we can impose at this stage is

$$de^{a(s-1)} - h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b} = 0$$
 (by hand), (4.33)

with the gauge transformation

$$\delta\omega^{a(s-1),b} = d\lambda^{a(s-1),b}.$$
(4.34)

This is precisely the equation of motion (4.26) that we derived from the action (4.21). However, the field  $\omega^{a(s-1),b}$  itself has more components than the ones we can express in terms of  $de^{a(s-1)}$  (this can be observed by using rules for the tensor product given in appendix B.2). Upon imposing eq. (4.33) (which we will refer to as the first torsion constraint), one can find that all components of  $\omega^{a(s-1),b}$  are expressed in terms of  $de^{a(s-1)}$ , except for the component<sup>9</sup>

$$\underbrace{\begin{array}{c} s-1 \\ \hline \end{array}}_{}. \tag{4.35}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The gauge variation of  $\omega^{a(s-1),b}$  also picks up a term proportional to  $\xi$  and linear in the cosmological constant, as is the case of (linearised) AdS gravity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>For s = 2, this component is absent and there is a one-to-one correspondence between the components of the spin connection  $\omega_{\mu}{}^{[ab]}$  and the exterior derivative of the vielbein  $\partial_{[\mu} e_{\nu]}{}^a$ .

This can be inferred by comparing the components of  $\omega^{a(s-1),b}$ , given by the right-hand-side of (B.16) for t = 1 and those of  $de^{a(s-1)}$  given by eq. (B.18).

In order not to introduce additional degrees of freedom (we already have enough to describe a Fronsdal field), this component must be gauged away. The idea is to introduce yet another set of gauge parameters and fields to algebraically gauge away this new component, etc. and repeat the process until all components of all fields are accounted for (either zero or fixed to zero by torsion constraint). This procedure yields a chain of torsion equations

$$T^{a(s-1),b(t)} \equiv d\omega^{a(s-1),b(t)} - h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b(t+1)} = 0 \qquad (\text{e.o.m.}), \tag{4.36}$$

for all  $t \in \{0, ..., s - 2\}$ , with

$$\delta\omega^{a(s-1),b(t)} = d\lambda^{a(s-1),b(t)} - h_b \lambda^{a(s-1),b(t+1)}, \qquad (4.37)$$

and does indeed stop, when the last field and gauge parameter are introduced, with two rows of frame indices

$$d\omega^{a(s-1),b(s-2)} - h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b(s-1)} = 0 \qquad (\text{e.o.m.}), \tag{4.38}$$

with

$$\delta\omega^{a(s-1),b(s-1)} = d\lambda^{a(s-1),b(s-1)} . \tag{4.39}$$

The last field strength tensor, that we will call the curvature  $R^{a(s-1),b(s-1)}$  verifies

$$h_b \wedge R^{a(s-1),b(s-1)} = h_b \wedge d\omega^{a(s-1),b(s-1)} = 0.$$
 (4.40)

All in all, we find that the complete set of auxiliary fields is given by

$$e_{\mu}^{a(s-1)}, \omega_{\mu}^{a(s-1),b}, \dots, \omega_{\mu}^{a(s-1),b(s-1)},$$
 (4.41)

together with the gauge parameters

$$\xi^{a(s-1)}, \lambda^{a(s-1),b}, \dots, \lambda^{a(s-1),b(s-1)}.$$
 (4.42)

**Chain of structure equations** We have the set of torsion equations (4.36) from t = 0 to t = s - 2, as well as  $h_b \wedge R^{a(s-1),b(s-1)} = 0$ . We already know how to move from one torsion equation to the next (by studying its integrability, yielding a Bianchi identity). For example, one can ensure that the consequences of eq. (4.33) are properly taken care of. By taking the exterior derivative and using  $d^2 = 0$ , one obtains

$$dT^{a(s-1)} = 0 = d\left(-h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b}\right) = h_b \wedge d\omega^{a(s-1),b} \qquad \text{(integrability)}, \tag{4.43}$$

whose general solution is 10

$$d\omega^{a(s-1),b} = h_b \wedge \hat{\omega}^{a(s-1),b(2)} \qquad (\sigma_{-} \text{ cohomology}).$$
(4.44)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Proving this requires to study the cohomology of the nilpotent operator  $h_b \wedge \ldots$ , known as  $\sigma_-$ . This goes beyond the scope of these lecture notes and we refer the interested reader to [56] for more details.

This is indeed the second torsion equation for  $\hat{\omega}^{a(s-1),b(2)} = \omega^{a(s-1),b(2)}$ , and so on. Alternatively, one can take the second torsion equation and take its wedge product with a background vielbein, contracting one index

$$h_b \wedge T^{a(s-1),b} = 0 = h_b \wedge d\omega^{a(s-1),b} = -d\left(h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b}\right),$$
 (4.45)

which can be written, using the generalised Poincaré lemma [107], as

$$h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b} = d\hat{e}^{a(s-1)},$$
 (4.46)

which is the first torsion equation for  $\hat{e}^{a(s-1)} = e^{a(s-1)}$ . All in all, we have the hierarchy

$$T^{a(s-1)} = 0 \stackrel{int}{\underset{PL}{\leftarrow}} T^{a(s-1),b} = 0 \stackrel{int}{\underset{PL}{\leftarrow}} \dots \stackrel{int}{\underset{PL}{\leftarrow}} T^{a(s-1),b(s-2)} = 0 \stackrel{int}{\underset{PL}{\leftarrow}} h_b \wedge R^{a(s-1),b(s-1)} = 0, \quad (4.47)$$

where one moves from left to right by using integrability

 $T^{a(s-1),b(t)} = 0 \implies dT^{a(s-1),b(t)} = 0 \implies T^{a(s-1),b(t+1)} = 0,$ (4.48)

and one moves from right to left by using the generalised Poincaré lemma

$$T^{a(s-1),b(t)} = 0 \implies h_b \wedge T^{a(s-1),b(t)} = 0 \implies T^{a(s-1),b(t-1)} = 0.$$
(4.49)

As in the case of Cartan gravity, the last thing to do is to impose an equation of motion on the curvature  $R^{a(s-1),b(s-1)}$ , which fixes the dynamical content. A natural choice is to impose

$$R^{a(s-1),b(s-1)} = h_a \wedge h_b C^{a(s),b(s)}, \qquad (4.50)$$

where  $C^{a(s),b(s)}$  is a traceless zero-form, to be interpreted as the Weyl<sup>11</sup> component of the generalised curvature of the Fronsdal field (it contains *s* derivatives of  $\phi$ ). One can verify, using techniques from unfolding [108, 109], that this choice indeed describes the propagation of a single massless spin-*s* field.

# 4.3.2 (A)dS space

Similarly to the case of linearised gravity, all derivatives d are replaced with  $\nabla$  and, starting from t = 1, there is an extra piece proportional to the cosmological constant in  $T^{a(s-1),b(t)}$ , as well as in  $R^{a(s-1),b(s-1)}$ . It can be proven that the torsions take the form

$$T^{a(s-1)} = \nabla e^{a(s-1)} - h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b}, \qquad (4.51)$$

and

$$T^{a(s-1),b(t)} = \nabla \omega^{a(s-1),b(t)} - h_b \wedge \omega^{a(s-1),b(t+1)} - \frac{1}{\ell^2} \sigma_+ \left( \omega^{a(s-1),b(t-1)} \right), \tag{4.52}$$

for  $t \ge 1$ , and the curvature is

$$R^{a(s-1),b(s-1)} = \nabla \omega^{a(s-1),b(s-1)} - \frac{1}{\ell^2} \sigma_+ \left( \omega^{a(s-1),b(s-2)} \right), \tag{4.53}$$

where  $\sigma_+$  is an operator enforcing the projection in the indices. This is similar to what happens with the cosmological constant term appearing in General Relativity à *la* Cartan. Even though calculations become more involved, the above argument does not change.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>For the case s = 2, it is precisely the linearised Weyl tensor, i.e. the traceless part of the linearised Riemann tensor.

# Simon Pekar

#### 4.4 Initial data for a gauge algebra

Having seen the complete set of fields and gauge transformations in the frame-like formulation of higher-spin dynamics, we now wish to answer the following question: *is there an algebra underlying the dynamics?* In other words, can we find a Lie algebra containing generators associated the complete set of reducibility parameters presented in section 3.3, and whose Cartan equations (at the linearised level) reproduce the system of torsions and curvature presented in section 4.3?

# 4.4.1 Looking for a non-Abelian algebra

Let us first reformulate the initial data of this problem algebraically. A putative higher-spin symmetry algebra should contain generators whose spectrum is described in 3.3, denoted by

$$\bigoplus_{\substack{s \ge 1\\0 < t \le s-1}} Z_{a(s-1),b(t)}, \qquad (4.54)$$

with the following commutation relations with Lorentz generators (fixed by Lorentz covariance)

$$[J_{ab}, Z_{c(s-1),d(t)}] = 2(s-1)\eta_{c[b} Z_{a]c(s-2),d(t)} + 2t Z_{c(s-1),d(t-1)[a} \eta_{b]d}.$$
(4.55)

By looking at the form of the torsions and curvatures in flat and (A)dS space, we can read off the structure constants

$$[P_a, Z_{b(s-1),c(t)}] = \alpha \left( \eta_{ac} \, Z_{b(s-1),c(t-1)} + \text{permutations} - \text{traces} \right) + \beta \frac{1}{\ell^2} Z_{b(s-1),ac(t)} \,, \quad (4.56)$$

where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are non-vanishing, spin- and dimension-dependent structure constants, and the terms referred to as "permutations" and "traces" within brackets can be determined in such a way that the symmetries of the fibre indices on the right-hand side of eq. (4.56) matches those on the left-hand side. The convention that  $Z_{b(s-1),c(t)} = 0$  whenever t < 0 or t > s - 1 is also assumed. At this stage, we can rescale the generators such that  $\alpha = t$  without loss of generality. This fixes all the commutators of the linearised algebra between a spin-2 field and a higher-spin field (also spin 2, closes on Poincaré or (A)dS) and constitutes the initial data for a candidate non-Abelian higher-spin symmetry algebra, where  $[Z_{a(s-1),b(t)}, Z_{c(s'-1),d(t')}] \neq 0$  in general.

#### 4.4.2 Structure constants from global symmetries

As a side note, although there is not a unique candidate to generalise the Lie bracket, one can compute the Lie derivative of a Killing tensor of eq. (3.31) along a Killing vector corresponding to translations in flat space

$$\mathcal{L}_{\kappa^{c}\partial_{c}}\left[M_{a(s-1),b(t)}\underbrace{x^{b}\cdots x^{b}}_{t}\right] = t\,\kappa^{c}M_{a(s-1),cb(t-1)}\underbrace{x^{b}\cdots x^{b}}_{t-1},\qquad(4.57)$$

and remark that they agree with the structure constants of the linearised unfolding strategy for  $\ell \to \infty$  of eq. (4.56). Below, we present some attempts to define a Lie algebra fulfilling this rule.

**Schouten bracket** One generalisation of the Lie bracket to higher-rank tensors is the so-called Schouten(-Nijenhuis) bracket [110–113]. Given two symmetric tensors  $v^{a(p)}$  and  $w^{a(q)}$ , their Schouten bracket is given by

$$[v,w]_{S}^{a(p+q-1)} \equiv \frac{(p+q-1)!}{p!q!} \left( p \, v^{ba(p-1)} \partial_{b} w^{a(q)} - q \, w^{ba(q-1)} \partial_{b} v^{a(p)} \right). \tag{4.58}$$

It is easy to prove that the Schouten bracket of Killing tensors remains a Killing tensor, however the Schouten bracket of two traceless tensors is not necessarily a traceless tensor (nor can it be decomposed into a sum of traceless tensors in general), thus making it a poor candidate for our needs.<sup>12</sup>

**Weyl algebra** A particularly useful representation of Killing symmetries of the type defined in eq. (3.30) is obtained using (Weyl-ordered) polynomials in the variables  $X_a$  and  $P_a$  with  $[X_a, P_b] = i\eta_{ab}$  [20]. In this basis, Minkowski translations are realised by  $P_a$  and Lorentz transformations by

$$J_{ab} = X_{[a}P_{b]} \,. \tag{4.59}$$

One can therefore try to construct higher-spin isometries using higher products of these oscillators, and an algebra will be given by using the Leibniz rule.<sup>13</sup> This approach gives a meaningful answer in (A)dS space but fails in Minkowski, again due to the problem of trace constraints pointed out earlier.

(In)existence of the algebra Without specifying any particular representation, one can try to see if, within the Fronsdal formulation, there exist a non-Abelian algebra with the initial data (4.55) and (4.56) that satisfies the Jacobi identity and some other assumptions on the form of the commutators (see appendix A.2). It was found that the answer is no in the case of Poincaré [73, 74] (see also the comments [73, 115–120]), and that there is only one answer [121] in (A)dS (was first constructed in d = 4 in [3], then generalised to  $d \ge 4$  in [16, 20, 122–125]): the Fradkin-Vasiliev-Eastwood (FVE) algebra (the precise set of assumptions is spelled out in appendix A.2).

**Towards the gauging of the FVE algebra** The gauging of this algebra was performed in [10, 11, 126] and non-linear equations of motion were obtained. Eventually, it was proven in [121] that the FVE algebra reproduces all known higher-spin cubic vertices in d = 4 and  $d \ge 7$ , making it the best (and only) candidate algebra for higher-spin symmetry. In particular, the non-Abelian cubic vertices for the 2 - s - s case in flat-space are precisely the seeds (highest-derivative term, non-Abelian gauge transformations) for the cubic vertices found by Fradkin and Vasiliev through their gauge-restoration procedure in (A)dS. The idea is to start from the non-Abelian vertex and add a 'tail' of lower-derivative couplings that render the action gauge-invariant. The fact that this algebra only exists in the case of non-vanishing cosmological constant was interpreted as yet another no-go for higher-spin theories in flat space, see appendix A.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>In some sense, the non-closure of the algebra mimics the non-closure of non-Abelian gauge transformations at the cubic order in the metric-like formulation. It looks like, in flat space, the trace constraint is at odds with the problem of finding a higher-spin symmetry algebra, as was pointed in [20].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Another option is to start instead with commuting variables  $x_a$  and  $p_a$  and to deform the pointwise product into a star product  $\hat{a}$  la deformation quantisation [114].

# 5. Higher-spin algebras

Having stressed the importance of a non-Abelian, infinite-dimensional symmetry algebra underlying any candidate gauge theory of interacting higher-spin gauge theory (in the frame-like formulation of the dynamics), we present a way to build such an algebra using the tensor algebra of space-time isometries, which was shown to be the unique algebra reproducing known cubic vertices in d = 4. We make a number of remarks in the direction of higher-spin holography.

We also spend some time on the d = 3 version of these algebras, as well as other candidates, describing the propagation and interaction of a finite number fields. Although the associated theories are topological (they can be built as Chern-Simons theories) the construction admits some contractions and deformations which makes it interesting for massive and flat higher-spin gravity.

# **5.1** Fradkin-Vasiliev-Eastwood algebra in general $d \ge 4$

We present first the general construction [16, 127, 128] in any  $d \ge 4$ . The case d = 3 also works, but due to the low dimensionality (and the fact that there is a more refined construction that only works in this dimension) we will present it later.

# 5.1.1 Universal enveloping construction

Let us present first the construction in general  $d \ge 4$  through a Universal Enveloping Algebra (UEA). In d = 3 and d = 4 there are some specific realisations that we will briefly address. We are now in AdS space, whose isometry generators are embedded in ambient space in the following way:

$$[J_{AB}, J_{CD}] = \eta_{BC} J_{AD} - \eta_{AC} J_{BD} - \eta_{BD} J_{AC} + \eta_{AD} J_{BC}, \qquad (5.1)$$

with, e.g.  $J_{0a} = \ell^{-1} P_a$ . One can then construct the algebra as a quotient of the AdS UEA

$$\mathfrak{hs}_d \equiv \frac{\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{so}(d-1,2))}{\langle I_{ABCD} \oplus I_{AB} \rangle}, \tag{5.2}$$

where  $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{so}(d-1,2))$  denotes the UEA of  $\mathfrak{so}(d-1,2)$ , and  $\langle I_{ABCD} \oplus I_{AB} \rangle$  is generated by the contraction of  $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{so}(d-1,2))$  on the left or the right of the elements  $I_{ABCD}$  and  $I_{AB}$  given below.

This construction deserves more explanations. To construct the UEA of a (real) Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ , one starts with an associative product (denoted here by  $\star$ , omitted in the following) such that

$$[a,b] = a \star b - b \star a, \tag{5.3}$$

for any  $a, b \in g$ . The tensor algebra of g is given (as a vector space) by

$$\mathcal{T}(\mathfrak{g}) = \mathbb{R} \oplus \mathfrak{g} \oplus (\mathfrak{g} \star \mathfrak{g}) \oplus \cdots, \qquad (5.4)$$

and the UEA is given by

$$\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g}) = \frac{\mathcal{T}(\mathfrak{g})}{\langle [a,b] - a \star b + b \star a \rangle},\tag{5.5}$$

where  $\mathcal{T}(\mathfrak{g})$  is quotiented by the equivalence relation defined by (5.3). A two-sided ideal generated by an element  $\mathcal{I} \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})$  is given by

$$\langle I \rangle = \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g}) \star I \star \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g}).$$
 (5.6)

Let us take higher symmetric products of generators of  $AdS_d$ . At the quadratic order, we have

$$\mathcal{K}_{AB,CD} \equiv J_{C(A} \odot J_{B)D} - \frac{2}{d-1} \left( \eta_{AB} I_{CD} + \eta_{CD} I_{AB} - \eta_{C(A} I_{B)D} - \eta_{D(A} I_{B)C} \right) + \frac{1}{d(d+2)} \left( \eta_{AB} \eta_{CD} - \eta_{C(A} \eta_{B)D} \right) C_2,$$
(5.7a)

$$J_{ABCD} \equiv J_{[AB} \odot J_{CD]}, \qquad (5.7b)$$

$$I_{AB} \equiv J^{C}{}_{(A} \odot J_{B)C} + \frac{2}{d+1} \eta_{AB} C_{2}, \qquad (5.7c)$$

$$C_2 \equiv \frac{1}{4} J_{AB} \odot J^{BA} , \qquad (5.7d)$$

where  $a \odot b = a \star b + b \star a$ , and in terms of Young diagrams

$$\Box \odot \Box = \bigsqcup_{keep} \oplus \bigsqcup_{keep} \oplus \bigsqcup_{fixed} \oplus \underbrace{\bullet}_{fixed} .$$
(5.8)

It can be shown that the generator with the symmetries of the second tableau spans an ideal and therefore can be factorised and so does the third one. Using the relation

$$\frac{3}{4}I_{ABCD}J^{CD} - I_{C[A}J_{B]}^{C} + \frac{d-1}{d+1}\left(C_{2} + \frac{(d+1)(d-3)}{4}\right)J_{AB} = 0,$$
(5.9)

and requiring that the algebra be non-trivial (i.e.  $J_{AB}$  is not factorised), the scalar generator  $C_2$  (which is the quadratic Casimir) must take a precise value which is determined to be a multiple of the identity by the previous relation, thereby avoiding multiplicity in the spectrum.

# *Exercise (harder)*: prove the relation (5.9).

Among quadratic generators, we are only left with the 'window' combination (5.7a) as an independent quadratic generator, which is what we wanted. Upon quotienting by just these two elements, all higher products in the UEA reduces to reduce to only the two-row traceless diagrams<sup>14</sup>

$$\bigoplus_{s\geq 1} \frac{s-1}{s-1}.$$
(5.10)

This is precisely what we want, since the branching of the Young diagrams in (5.10) from d + 1-dimensional ambient space to d-dimensional physical space-time reproduces the spectrum of generators (4.54) (see appendix B.2).

Note that in d = 4, in the case of the Fradkin-Vasiliev construction (which relied on a particular oscillator representation of the AdS<sub>4</sub> algebra making use of a vector-spinor dictionary, see [3]), the elements  $I_{ABCD}$  and  $I_{AB}$  were automatically factorised. See also [17, 130–132] for representations of this algebra in various dimensions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup>This is not at all obvious and requires a careful study, see e.g. [129]. For instance, factorising either  $I_{AB}$  or  $I_{ABCD}$  fixes the higher-order Casimirs as polynomial functions of the quadratic one  $C_2$ , and it is remarkable that the value  $-\frac{(d+1)(d-3)}{4}$  is the unique one for which all polynomials agree.

#### 5.1.2 The Eastwood algebra as the higher symmetries of the d'Alembertian

The FVE algebra has an interpretation in the dual  $CFT_{d-1}$ : it corresponds to the algebra of higher differential symmetries of the d'Alembertian operators. The higher symmetries of the on-shell equation

$$\partial^2 \varphi \approx 0,$$
 (5.11)

for a scalar field  $\varphi$  with fixed conformal dimension  $\Delta$ , are differential operators  $\hat{D}$  that weakly commute with the Laplacian [16]

$$\partial^2 \circ \hat{D} = \hat{D}' \circ \partial^2, \qquad (5.12)$$

in the sense that it maps solutions of eq. (5.11) to themselves

$$\delta\left(\partial^{2}\varphi\right) = \partial^{2}\,\delta\varphi = \partial^{2}\circ\hat{D}\varphi = \hat{D}'\circ\partial^{2}\varphi \approx 0\,. \tag{5.13}$$

The space of differential operators is naturally graded by the order, and a differential operator  $\hat{D}$  of order s - 1 can be decomposed as follows

$$\hat{D} = V^{\mu(s-1)}\partial_{\mu}\dots\partial_{\mu} + \text{lower derivative}, \qquad (5.14)$$

where  $V^{\mu(s-1)}$  is called the symbol of the operator  $\hat{D}$ . Eastwood showed that there is a one-to-one correspondence between the symbols of the  $\hat{D}$ 's that verify the condition (5.12) (quotiented by trivial solutions of the form  $\hat{D} = \hat{E} \circ \partial^2$ ) and the Young tableaux having the symmetry of (5.10), this time viewed as conformal Killing tensors of  $\mathbb{R}^{d-2,1}$ , which shows that the algebra of higher symmetries of the d'Alembertian in d-1 dimensions has the same spectrum as the higher-spin algebra in AdS<sub>d</sub>.

In fact, they are the same algebra. To view this, we now take a closer look at the field  $\varphi$  in eq. (5.11), known as a *singleton* and which plays a central role in higher-spin holography.

# 5.1.3 Defining module: the singleton

The singleton is a scalar  $AdS_d$  field whose degrees of freedom are localised on the conformal boundary  $\mathbb{M}_{d-1}$ . It carries a conformal weight  $\Delta = \frac{d-3}{2}$ , sitting right at the unitarity bound, and is 'shortened' as compared to an ordinary massless scalar.

As a Verma module From the point of view of representations of SO(d-1,2), the singleton is an ultrashort representation. It is the conformal (quasi-)primary  $|\varphi\rangle$  corresponding to the unitary scalar field in conformally flat space-time verifying

$$K_{\mu}|\varphi\rangle = 0, \quad J_{\mu\nu}|\varphi\rangle = 0, \quad D|\varphi\rangle = \Delta|\varphi\rangle,$$
(5.15)

where the conformal algebra is spanned by  $\{J_{\mu\nu}, P_{\mu}, D, K_{\mu}\}$  representing Lorentz transformations, translations, dilations and special conformal transformations and  $\Delta = \frac{d-3}{2}$  (see appendix C for the definition of the generators of conformal isometries). It gives rise to the Verma module

$$\mathcal{D} \simeq \{P_{\mu_1} \dots P_{\mu_n} | \varphi \rangle, n \ge 0\} / \{\eta^{\mu_1 \mu_2} P_{\mu_1} \dots P_{\mu_n} | \varphi \rangle, n \ge 2\}, \qquad (5.16)$$

where the quotient is understood as the factorisation of the maximal sub-module (see, e.g., [133]) corresponding the equation of motion  $P^2 |\varphi\rangle = 0$ .

As an AdS representation In  $AdS_d/CFT_{d-1}$  representation theory, the singleton is called "ultrashort" because it is a massless scalar field in AdS that is described by a massles field in the *dual CFT*.<sup>15</sup> It is often denoted  $|Rac\rangle$  since its d = 4 avatar was first found by Dirac [134].

It has an energy (or conformal dimension in CFT language)  $E = \frac{d-3}{2}$  (right at unitarity bound) and the conjugated one is  $d - 1 - E = \frac{d+1}{2}$ , therefore the Casimir takes value

$$C_2 = E(E - d + 1) = -\frac{(d - 3)(d + 1)}{4}.$$
(5.17)

Note that this is the same value appearing in eq. (5.9). This is no coincidence! The higher-spin algebra (5.2) is precisely the UEA of  $AdS_d$ , evaluated on the singleton representation. The two elements of the ideal  $I_{ABCD}$  and  $I_{AB}$  can be understood as the manifestation of the field being scalar, and verifying a wave equation respectively.<sup>16</sup>

As an AdS field The Fefferman-Graham expansion of a massless scalar field with energy  $E = \frac{d-3}{2}$ in AdS (using in Poincaré coordinates) close to the boundary  $z \to 0$  reads

$$\varphi = z^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left( \bar{\varphi} + O(z^2) \right). \tag{5.18}$$

The singleton is captured by quotienting by the subleading contributions in *z*, so it is an AdS scalar field whose degrees of freedom are localised on the boundary. If one performs this quotient, the fact that  $\varphi$  verifies the d'Alembert equation in AdS<sub>d</sub> implies that  $\overline{\varphi}$  also verifies the d'Alembert equation in the CFT<sub>d-1</sub> (see, e.g., [133, 135, 136]), so we are back in the situation of eq. (5.11).

# 5.1.4 Flato-Fronsdal theorem

Not only does the singleton provide a natural realisation of the higher-spin algebra, but it is also a central object in higher-spin holography. Indeed, from the product of two singletons, it is possible to create conserved higher-spin currents, whose spectrum is in one-to-one correspondence with the spectrum of Vasiliev theory. This is known a the Flato-Fronsdal theorem [14]

$$|Rac\rangle \otimes |Rac\rangle = \sum_{s\geq 0} D(s+d-3,s), \qquad (5.19)$$

where the notation D(E, s) refers to an irreducible representation of the isometry algebra of  $AdS_d$ with energy *E* and spin *s*. The value of the energy E = s+d-3 corresponds to a Fronsdal (massless) field.

This theorem can be understood as follows: bulk massless higher-spin fields couple to a boundary theory through higher-spin conserved currents, built as bilinears in the singleton field. These bilinear currents actually have a simple expression

$$J_{\mu(s)}(\mathbf{x}) \sim i^{s} \,\bar{\varphi}^{*}(\mathbf{x}) \underbrace{\partial_{\mu} \cdots \partial_{\mu}}_{s} \bar{\varphi}(\mathbf{x}) - \text{traces} \,. \tag{5.20}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>One way to make this statement more precise is to use the Gelfand-Kirillov (GK) dimension. A massless field in AdS<sub>d</sub> has GK dimension d - 1 (the dimension of space minus the number of equations) whereas the singleton has GK dimension d - 2, i.e. it lives effectively on the CFT.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>This statement can be proven easily via ambient space techniques, a more pedestrian proof making use of the differential representation of the  $CFT_{d-1}$  algebra is presented in appendix C.

For spin s = 0, and s = 1, one recovers the usual scalar and electromagnetic current densities  $\bar{\varphi}^* \bar{\varphi}$ and  $i(\bar{\varphi}^* \partial_\mu \bar{\varphi} - \bar{\varphi} \partial_\mu \bar{\varphi}^*)$ , while for s = 2 and greater, one obtains the stress-energy tensor and higherspin analogues obtained via an appropriate transformation subtracting the traces. The  $J_{\mu(s)}(\mathbf{x})$  can be generated thanks to a function of an auxiliary variable  $\mathbf{p}^{\mu}$  [15]

$$J(\mathbf{x};\mathbf{p}) \equiv \bar{\varphi}^*(\mathbf{x}+\mathbf{p})\,\bar{\varphi}(\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{p}) = \sum_{s\geq 0} \frac{i^s}{s!} J_{\mu(s)}(\mathbf{x})\mathbf{p}^{\mu}\cdots\mathbf{p}^{\mu}\,. \tag{5.21}$$

*Exercise:* check that the generating function of currents verifies  $\partial_{\mathbf{x}} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{p}} J(\mathbf{x}; \mathbf{p}) = 0$  and deduce that the currents  $J_{\mu(s)}(\mathbf{x})$  are conserved. Verify that  $(\partial_{\mathbf{x}} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{x}} + \partial_{\mathbf{p}} \cdot \partial_{\mathbf{p}}) J(\mathbf{x}; \mathbf{p}) = 0$  and explain how to obtain traceless currents from there.

In higher-spin holography and according to the AdS/CFT dictionary [35, 36, 137], bulk (higherspin) gauge fields  $\phi_{\mu(s)}$  are dual to boundary (higher-spin) conserved currents  $J_{\mu(s)}$ . They couple to each other through the canonical term

$$\int d^{d-1}\mathbf{x} J_{\mu(s)}(\mathbf{x}) \,\bar{\phi}^{\mu(s)}(\mathbf{x}) \,, \tag{5.22}$$

where  $\bar{\phi}^{\mu(s)}(\mathbf{x})$  is the *boundary value* of the field  $\phi^{\mu(s)}(x)$  that are defined as the leading part of a bulk field in a Fefferman-Graham expansion  $x = (z, \mathbf{x})$ , see e.g. [121].

#### 5.2 The three-dimensional case

Although the previous construction of the FVE algebra also applies to the case of d = 3, higher-spin gravity in 3 dimensions has followed another route historically, associated to the higher-spin extensions of Chern-Simons theory. There are a number of key features that distinguishes d = 3 from the other dimensions: gravity and higher-spin theories are topological since they do not propagate any degrees of freedom; and it is possible to cook up higher-spin theories with a finite number of fields, both in (A)dS and flat space-time. The fact that these theories exist and admit a tractable Chern-Simons formulation makes them ideal candidates to study quantum gravity as well as holography in three dimensions [138–142]. For a review on three-dimensional higher-spin theories and their Chern-Simons formulation, see [143].

# 5.2.1 Pure gravity

Recall that the d = 3 Anti de Sitter algebra  $\mathfrak{so}(2, 2)$  is not semi-simple since it can be split as two orthogonal copies  $\mathfrak{so}(2, 2) \simeq \mathfrak{so}(1, 2) \oplus \mathfrak{so}(1, 2)$ 

$$[J_a, J_b] = \epsilon_{abc} J^c , \quad [J_a, P_b] = \epsilon_{abc} P^c , \quad [P_a, P_b] = \frac{1}{\ell^2} \epsilon_{abc} J^c , \quad (5.23)$$

where we used the d = 3 Levi-Civita tensor  $\epsilon_{abc}$  to dualise the generator of Lorentz transformations into a vector  $J_a$ . Alternatively, using  $\mathfrak{so}(1,2) \simeq \mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ , we can write

$$[J_m, J_n] = (m-n)J_{m+n}, \quad [J_m, P_n] = (m-n)P_{m+n}, \quad [P_m, P_n] = \frac{1}{\ell^2}(m-n)J_{m+n}. \quad (5.24)$$

The two orthogonal copies can be recovered by considering

$$\mathcal{L}_{m} = \frac{1}{2} \left( J_{m} + \ell P_{m} \right), \quad \bar{\mathcal{L}}_{m} = \frac{1}{2} \left( J_{m} - \ell P_{m} \right),$$
 (5.25)

verifying

$$[\mathcal{L}_m, \mathcal{L}_n] = (m-n)\mathcal{L}_{m+n}, \quad [\bar{\mathcal{L}}_m, \bar{\mathcal{L}}_n] = (m-n)\bar{\mathcal{L}}_{m+n}, \quad [\mathcal{L}_m, \bar{\mathcal{L}}_n] = 0.$$
(5.26)

We can rewrite the Einstein-Cartan action as a difference of two Chern-Simons terms [141]

$$S = I_{\rm CS}[A] - I_{\rm CS}[\bar{A}] \tag{5.27}$$

where

$$I_{\rm CS}[A] = \int {\rm Tr}\left(A \wedge dA + \frac{2}{3}A \wedge A \wedge A\right), \qquad (5.28)$$

and where A,  $\overline{A}$  take values in the two copies of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ , with Tr denoting the invariant bilinear form of the algebra, also known as the Killing-Cartan form.

*Exercise:* prove this. By using the Killing metric on  $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$  and the change of basis (5.25), you should find  $\operatorname{Tr}(P_a J_{bc}) = \epsilon_{abc}$ .

# 5.2.2 Algebra for higher-spin gravity in AdS<sub>3</sub>

First, let us remark that most of the extra fields and generators found in section 4.3 do not exist because of low dimensionality. Indeed, the tableaux  $|\mathbb{Y}_3(s-1,t)| = 0$  for  $s \ge 2$  for all  $2 \le t \le s-1$ . This means that the two-field frame formulation of section 4.2 is actually complete! Moreover, we can dualise a  $\mathbb{Y}_3(s-1,1)$  to  $\mathbb{Y}_3(s-1)$ , so we will be working with two *completely symmetric* traceless one-forms (like in three-dimensional gravity)

$$e_{\mu}{}^{a(s-1)}, \quad \omega_{\mu}{}^{a(s-1)}.$$
 (5.29)

**Discrete family** We can have a complete (perturbative) non-linear description of higher-spin gravity in three dimensions by writing a Chern-Simons theory for a higher-spin extension of the potentials  $A, \bar{A}$  taking values in a higher-spin algebra. We can take the finite-dimensional algebras  $\mathfrak{sl}(N, \mathbb{R}) \oplus \mathfrak{sl}(N, \mathbb{R})$  as the improvement of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R}) \oplus \mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$ .

Taking the adjoint representation  $\underline{N^2 - 1}_N$  of a single  $\mathfrak{sl}(N, \mathbb{R})$  and decomposing it into irreducible representations  $\underline{n}_2$  of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2, \mathbb{R})$ , we have

$$\underline{N^2 - 1}_N = \underline{2N - 1}_2 \oplus \underline{2N - 3}_2 \oplus \dots \oplus \underline{5}_2 \oplus \underline{3}_2, \qquad (5.30)$$

where the final  $\underline{3}_2$  is the adjoint representation of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$ . Since the gauge fields  $e^{a(s-1)}$  and  $\omega^{a(s-1)}$  each have  $|\mathbb{Y}_3(s-1)| = 2s - 1$  components in their fibre indices, we can deduce that the algebra  $\mathfrak{sl}(N,\mathbb{R}) \oplus \mathfrak{sl}(N,\mathbb{R})$  is a candidate to describe the propagation and interaction of massless fields of spin  $s, \ldots, 2$  in AdS<sub>3</sub>.<sup>17</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>Note that in this construction, there is actually no generator of spin-1 isometries. The latter can be added as an extra Abelian u(1) generator.

**Change of basis** We have already flashed the change of basis from  $\mathfrak{so}(1,2)$  to  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  in (5.26), making it possible to rewrite the spin-2 isometry generators as  $\mathcal{L}_m$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{L}}_m$  with  $|m| \le 1$ . For higher spins *s*, the isometry generators will be denoted by  $\mathcal{W}_m^s$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{W}}_m^s$ , with  $|m| \ge s - 1$ .

In order to construct a Chern-Simons action, we take the Cartan-Killing<sup>18</sup> metric of  $\mathfrak{sl}(N,\mathbb{R})$ in our  $\mathcal{W}_m^s$  basis, which reads

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\mathcal{W}_m^s \mathcal{W}_n^t) = \operatorname{Tr}(\bar{\mathcal{W}}_m^s \bar{\mathcal{W}}_n^t) = \delta^{s,t} A_s \kappa_{m,n}^s, \qquad (5.31)$$

where  $A_s$  is a spin-dependent normalisation factor and

$$\kappa_{m,n}^{s} = \sum_{k=0}^{2s-2} (-1)^{k} \binom{2s-2}{k} [s-1+m]_{2s-2-k} [s-1-m]_{k} [s-1+n]_{k} [s-1-n]_{2s-2-k}, \quad (5.32)$$

with  $[a]_b = a(a-1)\cdots(a-b+1)$  the falling Pochhammer symbol.

**UEA construction** In the basis of eq. (5.25), it can be proven (see, e.g., [145]) that factorising the ideal of the construction (5.2) factorises all products that mix  $\mathcal{L}_m$  and  $\bar{\mathcal{L}}_m$ 

$$I_{AB} \quad \leftrightarrow \quad \mathcal{L}_m \bar{\mathcal{L}}_n \,, \tag{5.33}$$

as well as set the value of the quadratic Casimir in each chiral sector

$$\epsilon^{ABCD} I_{ABCD} \oplus C_2 \quad \leftrightarrow \quad \mathcal{L}^2 \oplus \bar{\mathcal{L}}^2, \tag{5.34}$$

where  $\mathcal{L}^2 = \gamma^{mn} \mathcal{L}_m \mathcal{L}_m$  and similarly for the barred sector. In the end, the algebra  $\mathfrak{hs}_3$  is actually the direct sum of the universal enveloping algebra of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  in the zero-Casimir representation. This algebra is infinite-dimensional (as is the case of the general *d* construction).

**Continuous family** It is possible to relax the latter conditions (5.34) by imposing a weaker set of conditions, leading to a one-parameter<sup>19</sup> family  $\mathfrak{hs}_3[\lambda] \simeq \mathfrak{hs}[\lambda] \oplus \mathfrak{hs}[\lambda]$  of bosonic algebras constructed as follows

$$1 \oplus \mathfrak{hs}[\lambda] = \frac{\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R}))}{\left\langle \mathcal{L}^2 - \frac{\lambda^2 - 1}{4} 1 \right\rangle},$$
(5.35)

and similarly for the anti-holomorphic sector, with the identity element denoted by  $\overline{1}$ . This time, the Casimirs of AdS<sub>3</sub> are not zero and given by

$$C_2 = P^2 + J^2 = 2(\mathcal{L}^2 + \bar{\mathcal{L}}^2) = \frac{\lambda^2 - 1}{2}(1 + \bar{1}) = \frac{\lambda^2 - 1}{2}id, \qquad (5.36a)$$

$$W = J^a P_a = \mathcal{L}^2 - \bar{\mathcal{L}}^2 = \frac{\lambda^2 - 1}{4} (1 - \bar{1}) = \frac{\lambda^2 - 1}{4} \kappa, \qquad (5.36b)$$

where we defined

$$id \equiv 1 + \overline{1}, \quad \kappa \equiv 1 - \overline{1}, \tag{5.37}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>For this construction to work, it is important that the spin-2 subalgebra  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  be principally embedded within  $\mathfrak{sl}(N,\mathbb{R})$ , see e.g. [144].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>One can also construct a two-parameter family [146] by considering  $\mathfrak{hs}[\lambda_1] \oplus \mathfrak{hs}[\lambda_2]$ , which are relevant for partially-massless higher-spin gravity in three dimensions, see [147].

with the extra scalar denoted  $\kappa$  verifying  $\kappa^2 \sim id$ . Moreover,

$$\kappa \mathcal{L}_m = \mathcal{L}_m, \quad \kappa \bar{\mathcal{L}}_m = -\bar{\mathcal{L}}_m,$$
(5.38)

so that the product of  $\kappa$  with any element of  $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{so}(2,2))$  can be reduced to an element of  $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{so}(2,2))$ .

The generators are  $P_m^s$  and  $J_m^s$  for  $2 \le s \le N$  and with  $|m| \le s - 1$ . Schematically, the structure constants of  $\mathfrak{sl}(N, \mathbb{R}) \oplus \mathfrak{sl}(N, \mathbb{R})$  look like

$$[J_m^s, J_n^t] = \sum_{\substack{u=|s-t|+2\\s+t+u \text{ even}}}^{s+t-2} g(s, t, u, m, n; \lambda) J_{m+n}^u,$$
(5.39a)

$$[J_m^s, P_n^t] = \sum_{\substack{u=|s-t|+2\\s+t+u \text{ even}}}^{s+t-2} g(s, t, u, m, n; \lambda) P_{m+n}^u,$$
(5.39b)

$$[P_m^s, P_n^t] = \frac{1}{\ell^2} \sum_{\substack{u=|s-t|+2\\s+t+u \text{ even}}}^{s+t-2} g(s, t, u, m, n; \lambda) J_{m+n}^u,$$
(5.39c)

with  $g(s, t, u, m, n; \lambda)$  known functions (see [148–150]).

The previous algebras (finite and infinite-dimensional) can be unified in a single UEA construction, of which they are particular cases: it was noted in [148] that the algebra  $h\mathfrak{s}[\lambda = N]$  develop an infinite dimensional ideal corresponding to generators of spin s > N which, upon factorisation, reduces to  $\mathfrak{sl}(N, \mathbb{R})$ . The higher-spin theories with an infinite spectrum can formally be recovered as the  $N \to \infty$  limit of the algebras  $\mathfrak{sl}(N, \mathbb{R}) \oplus \mathfrak{sl}(N, \mathbb{R})$  studied in [151, 152]. Moreover, the algebra  $h\mathfrak{s}_3$  can be recovered by setting  $\lambda$  to 1 in the one-parameter family.

**Deformations and contractions of the**  $\mathfrak{hs}_3[\lambda]$  **family** From a mathematical perspective, it is tempting to see what happens if we relax the restriction on the range of the index *m* in the generators  $\mathcal{W}_m^s$ . Similarly to the Witt (resp. Virasoro) algebra being the centreless (resp. central) infinite-dimensional enhancement of the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  algebra, there exist infinite-dimensional enhancement of the  $\mathfrak{sl}(2,\mathbb{R})$  algebra (centreless) or  $\mathcal{W}_N$  (central, built as a non-linear deformations [148] of the former), as well as the one-parameter families  $w_{\infty}[\lambda]$  and  $\mathcal{W}_{\infty}[\lambda]$  that extend  $\mathfrak{hs}[\lambda]$ .

In full similarity with the BMS<sub>3</sub> algebra being the double copy of two Virasoro algebras with equal central charges, the central  $W_N$  and  $W_\infty[\lambda]$  algebras turn out to be related to asymptotic symmetries of d = 3 higher-spin gravity [144, 153]. Moreover, these algebras admit a straightforward  $\ell \rightarrow \infty$  contraction, giving rise to higher-spin asymptotic symmetries in flat space [154–157].

Massive higher-spin theories in three dimensions can also be obtained through star-product deformations of the  $\mathfrak{hs}[\lambda]$  algebras [158], while a quantum deformation of the  $W_N$  and  $W_{\infty}[\lambda]$  algebras play a role in the context of minimal model holography, as was pointed out in [38, 39]. Finally, the algebra  $w_{1+\infty}$ , which is a central extension of (the classical contraction of) the  $w_{\infty}$  algebras was recently shown to play a role in celestial holography [159] and in the higher-spin dynamics of a subsector of General Relativity [160].

# 6. Conclusion and outlook

In these notes, we reviewed the construction of higher-spin theories, guided by the principle of symmetry. After determining the free theory in the metric-like form, we moved on to the construction of higher-spin symmetry algebras, motivated by the Cartan approach to Einstein's General Relativity and made the link between the metric-like and the frame-like formulations. The existence of such algebras is established in AdS space-time with  $d \ge 3$ , and we showed the strong relation between the symmetries of the free theory and the construction of these algebras, in particular how the elimination of the extra gauge fields is performed thanks to its structure constants describing the coupling of higher-spin fields to gravity. Thanks to the frame-like formulation and the study of symmetries, we have paved the way to understanding the construction of the theory of higher-spin gravity with cubic interactions performed in [2–4, 126, 161–163].

The next logical step is to move on to a fully non-linear interacting theory including terms beyond the cubic order, for an infinite-dimensional multiplet transforming in the higher-spin algebra  $hs_d$ . The construction of such a theory is due to Vasiliev [11], and reviewed, e.g. in [56]. When it comes to constructing an interacting theory of higher-spin fields in flat space-time, there seems to be a general tension between unitarity, locality and a spin greater than two. Dropping one of these assumptions, for instance the first one, it is possible to write a local higher-spin theory in flat space – albeit with a different spectrum than the one we discussed in these notes – that generalises conformal General Relativity: conformal higher-spin gravity [164–166].

Stepping away from the manifestly Lorentz-covariant setup gives interesting results. While the free theory is generally construction-insensitive, working directly with the physical (i.e. non-gauge) degrees of freedom offers more possibilities for interaction terms. Theories in the light-cone gauge were constructed [95], based on the cubic vertices found in [81, 93, 94] and chiral higher-spin theories were studied in [167–169], as well as their connections with Yang-Mills-like theories [170–172], showing interesting quantum properties.

In these notes, we considered only bosonic higher-spin fields. The free theory of higher-spin fermions was determined in [173, 174], generalising the Dirac and Rarita-Schwinger actions, and the supersymmetric N = 1 extension of the higher-spin algebras was built in [131, 162]. Cubic interactions between fermionic and bosonic fields were computed in [85]. The inclusion of gauge fermions does not fundamentally change the general picture of higher-spin gravity that we tried to paint in these notes.

Similarly, higher-spin theories with a different spectrum than the one described here were considered. Free and interacting theories for partially-massless (see section 3.2.2) and mixed-symmetry fields, as well as symmetry algebras for these theories were described in [129, 175–180]. The goal of considering more complicated spectrum is to progressively bridge the gap between the relatively simple spectrum of a gauge theory  $\dot{a}$  la Vasiliev and String Theory. On the other hand, theories of massive higher-spin fields is an entirely different subject, since they do not rely on gauge symmetries. They are however better connected to String Theory in the finite- $\alpha'$  regime and interestingly do not suffer from the same no-go constraints that massless fields. Apart from the free theory [181–183] which is similar to Fronsdal's theory, we refer to [26, 27] for more details.

Higher-spin holography is a fascinating subject and the elements given in section 5.1 barely begin to scratch its surface. The original higher-spin AdS/CFT conjecture of [5, 6] has received

numerous checks, as well as generalisations, for instance in dS holography [184] or Chern-Simons matter models [12, 13], related to 3-dimensional bosonisation [185, 186]. The results of [187–189] indicate that CFTs with an exact higher-spin symmetry, which is the case of the O(N) vector models at large N, have a trivial holographic S-matrix, in perfect analogy with Weinberg's low-energy or Coleman-Mandula's no-go theorems. The check of the higher-spin holographic correspondance at finite N is a subject of active research. We refer to the excellent [190] for a more detailed review.

Finally, due to their relative simplicity, higher-spin theories in three dimensions have received a lot of developments in the direction of asymptotic symmetries, starting with the generalisation of the work of Brown and Henneaux for pure gravity [140] to higher spins [144, 153, 155, 191–193] as well as in more general contexts, involving asymptotically flat space-times [146, 157], cosmology [156], black holes [194] and generic horizons [195]. More recently, three-dimensional higher-spin theories formulated on non-Lorentzian backgrounds were considered in [196–201]. Asymptotic symmetries of (free) higher-spin fields in higher dimensional asymptotically flat space-time were also studied in [202, 203] and their link with asymptotic symmetry algebras studied in [204, 205].

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the organisers and the participants of the 2022 Modave summer school for all the questions and stimulating discussions. I also would like to thank particularly I. Ahlouche Lahlali, I. Basile, N. Boulanger, A. Campoleoni, A. Delfante, M. Vilatte and E. Skvortsov for useful discussions and/or comments on the manuscript. This work is supported by the Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique - FNRS under Grant No. FC.36447, as well as by the SofinaBoël Fund for Education and Talent.

#### A. No-go and yes-go theorems in flat space

In addition to the set of frequently presented no-go theorems on massless higher-spin in flat space [1, 206–208] (see also [74, 209] for a review), we also recall another one based purely on algebraic arguments, as well as possible ways out.

# A.1 Symmetries of the S-matrix

Most of the no-go theorems concern the symmetries of the perturbative *S*-matrix. As such, they are only valid in flat space in their original form.

The Weinberg low-energy theorem [206] Consider a scattering event with N particles with momenta  $p_1, \ldots, p_N$  and one spin-s massless particle with momentum q, becoming soft  $(q \rightarrow 0)$ . Under the assumptions of locality, Poincaré-invariance and analyticity of the poles of the S-matrix, Weinberg showed that in the limit  $q \rightarrow 0$ , the S-matrix element is dominated by the contribution

$$S(p_1,\ldots,p_N,q) \sim \sum_{i=1}^N g_i^s \frac{p_i^\mu \cdots p_i^\mu \varepsilon_{\mu(s)}(q)}{2q \cdot p_i} S_{\text{bare}}(p_1,\ldots,p_N), \qquad (A.1)$$

where  $g_i^s$  is the coupling constant of the spin-*s* particle to the particle *i*,  $\varepsilon_{\mu(s)}$  is the polarisation tensor of the higher-spin particle, which is traceless and transverse and where  $S_{\text{bare}}(p_1, \ldots, p_N)$ 

represents the amplitude of the N particles scattering together, computed in the absence of the higher-spin leg. Since the S-matrix element (A.1) must satisfy the Ward identity associated to invariance under (super)translations, it was found that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} g_{s,i} \underbrace{p_i^{\ \mu} \cdots p_i^{\ \mu}}_{s-1} = 0.$$
 (A.2)

This can be understood by saying that the limit in which the external higher-spin particle acquires a zero momentum q = 0 should describe the same physics as having no external higher-spin particle at all, meaning that the pre-factor in eq. (A.1) encoding the pole  $q \rightarrow 0$  must vanish, producing the conservation law (A.2).

For s = 1 or s = 2, this is the usual charge  $\sum_{i=0}^{N} g_{1,i} = 0$  and momentum  $\sum_{i=0}^{N} p_i^{\mu} = 0$  conservation, as well as the universal coupling of gravity to other fields,  $g_{2,i} = g_2$ . For s > 2 there is simply no solution to the conservation law, unless  $g_{s,i} = 0$  (in this simple case,  $g_{s,i} = g_s$  and elastic scattering, i.e. the momenta are shuffled, also satisfies the conservation equation).

Therefore, as a by-product of the low-energy theorem, Weinberg showed that massless higherspin particles in flat space cannot produce non-trivial scattering amplitudes in the low-energy limit. In other words, they do not carry long-range interactions. For the moment, massive higher-spin particles are safe (although they suffer from their own type of no-go theorems [210]), and so are gauge theories of (massless) higher-spin particles, provided they undergo some sort of confinement  $\hat{a}$  la QCD and are not visible as individual particles in the low-energy regime.

**The Coleman-Mandula theorem [207]** Coleman and Mandula classified all possible symmetries of the *S*-matrix, under the hypothesis of analyticity and that the spectrum is gapped. They found that, apart from the product of Poincaré symmetry and an internal symmetry, any other symmetry of the *S*-matrix makes it trivial. The generalisation [211] also includes supersymmetry to the list of admissible space-time symmetries, while dropping the hypothesis of a mass gap, ruling out massless theories as well.

**Possible ways out** It seems that the only way out of the Weinberg low-energy theorem is to accept the fact that the higher-spin sector is gauged and that fields with a spin strictly greater than two will never be seen in scattering experiments with finite energy, just like individual gluons in QCD. Recently however [212], it was pointed out that the Weinberg low-energy theorem has to be understood as a statement about the number of derivatives in the coupling to gravity, rather than a no-go on higher-spin interactions per se. It is expected that moving to a different formulation of the dynamics than the one of Fronsdal could also cure the problem of scattering in flat space.

# A.2 (In)existence of a gauge algebra

**The theorem** Let  $\mathfrak{g}$  be the Poincaré or (A)dS algebra in  $d \ge 4$ . Taking (4.55) and (4.56) as initial data for a non-Abelian higher-spin Lie algebra extending  $\mathfrak{g}$  with the spectrum of (5.10) with the hypothesis that  $\mathfrak{g}$  is contained as a subalgebra and that at least one 'higher-spin' bracket of the

form  $[Z^{s_1}, Z^{s_2}]$  is non-vanishing for  $s_1$  and  $s_2$  strictly greater than two<sup>20</sup> yields no solution if  $\mathfrak{g}$  is the Poincaré algebra and exactly one if  $\mathfrak{g}$  is the (A)dS algebra [3, 73, 121]. This solution is the Fradkin-Vasiliev-Eastwood algebra  $\mathfrak{hs}_d$  described in (5.2) (there are also some dimension-dependent constructions, e.g. for d = 5, see [121, 125, 129, 213]).

**Possible way out** Surprisingly, there exists an Inonu-Wigner contraction of the higher-spin algebra that contains Poincaré as a subalgebra [145]. It is built as follows

$$\mathfrak{ihs}_{d} \equiv \frac{\mathcal{U}\left(\mathfrak{iso}(1, d-1)\right)}{\langle I'_{abcd} \oplus I'_{abc} \oplus I'_{ab} \oplus I'_{a} \rangle}, \tag{A.3}$$

where

$$I'_{abcd} \equiv J_{[ab} \odot J_{cd}], \quad I'_{abc} \equiv J_{[ab} \odot P_{c]}, \quad I'_{ab} \equiv P_a \odot P_b, \quad I'_a \equiv J_{ab} \odot P^b.$$
(A.4)

Note that, as a result of factorising  $I'_a$  and  $I'_{abc}$ , the value of the quadratic Casimir of the Lorentz algebra  $\mathfrak{so}(d-1,1)$  is fixed

$$I'_{abc}J^{bc} - \frac{2}{3}J_a{}^bI'_b - \frac{d-3}{3}I'_a + \frac{4}{3}\left(J^2 + \frac{(d-1)(d-3)}{4}\right)P_a = 0,$$
(A.5)

where  $J^2 = \frac{1}{2}J_{ab}J^{ba}$ . The reason this algebra was not in the classification of [4] is because it does not reproduce the initial data (4.56). However, the unfolded dynamics of this algebra is equivalent to the usual one, which we will show in [214].

# **B.** Reminders of tensor calculus

This section provides some basics of tensor calculus for higher representations of the Lorentz group, that is beyond the usual vector  $\mathbb{Y}_d(1)$ , rank-2 symmetric traceless  $\mathbb{Y}_d(2)$  and rank-2 anti-symmetric  $\mathbb{Y}_d(1, 1)$  representations.

# **B.1** Conventions

As explained in the introduction, we work in the symmetric convention, i.e. indices within groups separated by commas are symmetrised. We also use the shorthand that repeated indices that are not summed are symmetrised as well. For example, for a generic tensor

$$T_{a(n_1),b(n_2),\cdots,d(n_k)} \sim T_{(a_1\cdots a_{n_1}),(b_1\cdots b_{n_2}),\cdots,(d_1\cdots d_{n_k})}.$$
(B.1)

**Symmetrisation and product** As an example of symmetrisation between indices belonging to different tensors, consider the product of the mixed-symmetry tensor  $T^{a(k-1),b}$  and a vector  $V^a$ , the quantity  $V^a T^{a(k-1),b}$  represents the tensor

$$V^{(a_1}T^{a_2\cdots a_k),b} = \frac{1}{k} \left( V^{a_1}T^{a_2\cdots a_k,b} + V^{a_2}T^{a_1a_3\cdots a_k,b} + \dots + V^{a_k}T^{a_1\cdots a_{k-1},b} \right),$$
(B.2)

where the 1/k factor 'normalises' the sum of k terms within brackets to one, and we used cyclic permutations to implement the symmetrisation since T is already symmetric in the indices of the first row.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>In [4], there is also the technical hypothesis that the bracket  $[Z^s, Z^s]$  always gives a generator of the base algebra (i.e. Poincaré or (A)dS). Relaxing this hypothesis leads to a contraction of the higher-spin algebra  $\mathfrak{hs}_d$  and the latter can always be recovered by deformation.

**Compatibility condition** The fact that all tensors have the symmetries of the Young tableau  $\mathbb{Y}_d(n_1, n_2, \dots, n_k)$  is encoded in the *compatibility condition*: symmetrisation of the indices in a row with (at least) one index from the following row gives zero, i.e.

$$T_{a(n_1),ab(n_2-1),\cdots,d(n_k)} \sim T_{(a_1\cdots a_{n_1},a_{n_1+1})b_2\cdots b_{n_2},\cdots,d_1\cdots d_{n_k}} = 0,$$
(B.3a)

$$T_{a(n_1),b(n_2),bc(n_3-1),\cdots,d(n_k)} \sim T_{a_1\cdots a_{n_1},(b_1\cdots b_{n_2},b_{n_2+1})c_2\cdots c_{n_3},\cdots,d_1\cdots d_{n_k}} = 0,$$
(B.3b)

and so on. For example, for a  $\mathbb{Y}_d(1,1)$  tensor  $J_{a,b}$ , the compatibility condition reduces to

$$J_{(a,b)} = \frac{1}{2} \left( J_{a,b} + J_{b,a} \right) = 0,$$
(B.4)

which means that  $J_{a,b}$  is antisymmetric. The projections  $\mathbb{Y}_d(1, 1, \dots, 1)$  are the only ones where antisymmetrisation between indices is manifest (this is because we are using the symmetric convention, in the antisymmetric convention the opposite statement will be true). For a  $\mathbb{Y}_d(2, 1)$  tensor  $M_{ab,c}$ , the compatibility condition requires

$$M_{(ab,c)} = \frac{1}{3} \left( M_{ab,c} + M_{bc,a} + M_{ca,b} \right) = 0,$$
(B.5)

where we used that the tensor  $M_{ab,c}$  is symmetric in its first two indices to reduce the symmetrisation to a cyclic permutation. For completeness, let us also show the example of the  $\mathbb{Y}_d(2,2)$  'window' tensor

$$K_{(ab,c)d} = \frac{1}{3} \left( K_{ab,cd} + K_{bc,ad} + K_{ca,bd} \right) = 0.$$
(B.6)

**Tracelessness** The tensors we work with are furthermore in irreducible representations of the Lorentz group, which means that they are traceless on any pair of indices. As an example, in Minkowski space-time with metric  $\eta_{ab}$ ,

$$\eta^{a(2)}T_{a(n_1),b(n_2),\cdots,d(n_k)} = 0, \quad \eta^{ab}T_{a(n_1),b(n_2),\cdots,d(n_k)} = 0, \quad \dots$$
(B.7)

Thanks to the compatibility conditions, it is enough to require tracelessness in the first row. Indeed, taking again the example of  $M_{ab,c}$ , we have

$$0 = \eta^{ab} M_{(ab,c)} = \eta^{ab} \frac{1}{3} \left( M_{ab,c} + M_{bc,a} + M_{ca,b} \right) = \frac{1}{3} \eta^{ab} M_{ab,c} + \frac{2}{3} \eta^{ab} M_{ca,b} , \qquad (B.8)$$

so tracelessness in the indices of the first row implies tracelessness in the indices between the first and the second row (there is no trace in the indices of the second row in this example). For the 'window'

$$0 = \eta^{ab} K_{(ab,c)d} = \eta^{ab} \frac{1}{3} \left( K_{ab,cd} + K_{bc,ad} + K_{ca,bd} \right) = \frac{1}{3} \eta^{ab} K_{ab,cd} + \frac{2}{3} \eta^{ab} K_{ca,bd} , \quad (B.9a)$$

$$0 = \eta^{cd} K_{(ab,c)d} = \eta^{cd} \frac{1}{3} \left( K_{ab,cd} + K_{bc,ad} + K_{ca,bd} \right) = \frac{1}{3} \eta^{cd} K_{ab,cd} + \frac{2}{3} \eta^{cd} K_{ca,bd}, \quad (B.9b)$$

so tracelessness in the indices of the first row implies tracelessness in all pairs of indices. Note that the Fronsdal field  $\phi_{a(s)}$  is *not* in an irreducible representation of the Lorentz group, since for  $s \ge 4$  it is *doubly* traceless (the double trace can be computed on any pairs of indices because of the symmetry between indices)

$$\phi''_{a(s-4)} \sim \eta^{a_1 a_2} \eta^{a_3 a_4} \phi_{a_1 \cdots a_s} \,. \tag{B.10}$$

$$\phi_{a_1\cdots a_s} = \left(\phi_{a_1\cdots a_s} - \frac{s(s-1)}{2d + (s-2)(s+1)}\eta_{(a_1a_2}\phi'_{a_3\cdots a_s)}\right) + \frac{s(s-1)}{2d + (s-2)(s+1)}\eta_{(a_1a_2}\phi'_{a_3\cdots a_s)},$$
(B.11)

where  $\phi'_{a_3 \cdots a_s} = \eta^{bc} \phi_{bca_3 \cdots a_s}$ . Both the term within parenthesis and the second term are in the traceless projection of their indices.

*Exercise:* check this.

# **B.2** Young tableaux manipulation

Young tableaux are used to depict symmetries pictorially. Each box represents an index, and indices within each rows are symmetrised. Except in section B.2.1, where we explain the 'branching rules' to relate Young tableaux in different space-time dimensions, the dimensionality of space-time is fixed. In section B.2.2, we display the decomposition in Lorentz-irreducible components of some tensor products.

# **B.2.1** Branching rules

The branching rule [215] states that the restriction of a SO(d) diagram  $\mathbb{Y}_d(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_n)$  to SO(d-1) yields several diagrams  $\mathbb{Y}_{d-1}(b_1, b_2, \dots, b_n)$ , which we will denote by an arrow

$$\mathbb{Y}_d(a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_n) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{b_i} \mathbb{Y}_{d-1}(b_1, b_2, \cdots, b_n)$$
(B.12)

such that

$$0 \le b_n \le a_n \le b_{n-1} \le \dots \le b_2 \le a_2 \le b_1 \le a_1.$$
 (B.13)

In practice, we will only use the branching for two-row Young diagrams, which greatly simplifies the branching rule. As an example, the branching of a rectangular two-row Young tableau of length s - 1 from d + 1 to d-dimensional space-time reads

$$\mathbb{Y}_{d+1}(s-1,s-1) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{t=0}^{s-1} \mathbb{Y}_d(s-1,t), \qquad (B.14)$$

which shows that for each spin  $s \ge 1$ , the traceless Killing tensors of eq. (3.31) can be embedded inside of a two-row Young tableau as shown in eq. (5.10).

# **B.2.2** Tensor products

We work with trace-irreducible Young tableaux. For one-forms (gauge fields), we have the multiplication rules



and



for  $1 \le t \le s - 2$ , and

$$\boxed{ s-1 \atop s-1} = \boxed{ s \atop s-1} \oplus \boxed{ s-1 \atop s-2} \oplus \boxed{ s-1 \atop s-1}.$$
(B.17)

For two-forms (torsions and curvatures), we have

and





# C. Enveloping algebra of conformal isometries

In this section, we show how the Eastwood algebra [16] can be realised as the Universal Enveloping Algebra of conformal isometries of  $\mathbb{M}_{d-1}$ , realised on the singleton module. We start by recalling the differential realisation of (a real form of) the conformal algebra in d-1 dimensions acting on a primary field  $\varphi$  with conformal dimension  $\Delta = \frac{d-3}{2}$ 

$$J_{\mu\nu} = x_{\mu}\partial_{\nu} - x_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}, \qquad (C.1a)$$

$$P_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} \,, \tag{C.1b}$$

$$K_{\mu} = 2x_{\mu} \left( x^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} + \Delta \right) - x^{\nu} x_{\nu} \partial_{\mu} , \qquad (C.1c)$$

$$D = x^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} + \Delta \,. \tag{C.1d}$$

The generators verify the  $\mathfrak{so}(2, d-1)$  commutation relations

$$[J_{\mu\nu}, J_{\rho\sigma}] = \eta_{\nu\rho} J_{\mu\sigma} - \eta_{\mu\rho} J_{\nu\sigma} - \eta_{\nu\sigma} J_{\mu\rho} + \eta_{\mu\sigma} J_{\nu\rho}, \qquad (C.2a)$$

$$[J_{\mu\nu}, P_{\rho}] = \eta_{\nu\rho} P_{\mu} - \eta_{\mu\rho} P_{\nu}, \qquad (C.2b)$$

$$[J_{\mu\nu}, K_{\rho}] = \eta_{\nu\rho} K_{\mu} - \eta_{\mu\rho} K_{\nu}, \qquad (C.2c)$$

$$[D, P_{\mu}] = -P_{\mu}, \qquad (C.2d)$$

$$[D, K_{\mu}] = +K_{\mu}, \qquad (C.2e)$$

$$[K_{\mu}, P_{\nu}] = -2J_{\mu\nu} - 2\eta_{\mu\nu}D. \qquad (C.2f)$$

Then, one may verify that the expressions

$$J_{[\mu\nu} \odot J_{\rho\sigma]}, \quad J_{[\mu\nu} \odot P_{\rho]}, \quad J_{[\mu\nu} \odot K_{\rho]}, \quad P_{[\mu} \odot K_{\nu]} + D \odot J_{\mu\nu}, \tag{C.3}$$

identically vanish in the differential realisation, and that

$$\left[J^{\rho}{}_{(\mu}\odot J_{\nu)\rho} - P_{(\mu}\odot K_{\nu)} - \frac{1}{d-1}\eta_{\mu\nu}\left(4J^2 - P^{\rho}\odot K_{\rho}\right)\right]\varphi, \qquad (C.4a)$$

$$\left[J^{\rho}{}_{\mu}\odot P_{\rho} - P_{\mu}\odot D\right]\varphi, \qquad (C.4b)$$

$$\left[J^{\rho}{}_{\mu}\odot K_{\rho}+K_{\mu}\odot D\right]\varphi, \qquad (C.4c)$$

$$\left[P^{\mu} \odot P_{\mu}\right] \varphi, \qquad (C.4d)$$

$$\left[K^{\mu} \odot K_{\mu}\right] \varphi , \qquad (C.4e)$$

$$\left[\frac{1}{2}D \odot D - \frac{1}{4}P^{\mu} \odot K_{\mu} + \frac{d-3}{2}\right]\varphi, \qquad (C.4f)$$

where  $J^2 = \frac{1}{4}J_{\mu\nu} \odot J^{\nu\mu}$ , as well as

$$\left[C_2 + \frac{(d+1)(d-3)}{4}\right]\varphi = \left[J^2 + \frac{1}{2}D \odot D - \frac{1}{2}P^{\mu} \odot K_{\mu} + \frac{(d+1)(d-3)}{4}\right]\varphi, \quad (C.5)$$

vanish as a consequence of the equation of motion  $\partial^2 \varphi = 0$ .

Using the branching rule (B.14) twice, one can show that the elements in (C.3) combine to form a rank-4 completely antisymmetric representation of SO(2, d-1), while the elements in (C.4) combine to form a rank-2 symmetric traceless representation of SO(2, d-1). Finally, the quadratic Casimir  $C_2$  takes the value specified in (C.5). One can also check that there are no other independent relations involving elements quadratic in the generators of the conformal algebra.

This proves that the algebra of higher isometries of the singleton is isomorphic to  $\mathfrak{hs}_d$  defined in (5.2), since the base algebra is the same (conformal isometries), its spectrum of generators matches with  $\mathfrak{hs}_d$  as was proven in [16] and it automatically factorises exactly the ideal  $I_{ABCD} \oplus I_{AB}$ , with the right value of the quadratic Casimir  $C_2$ .

# References

 X. Bekaert, N. Boulanger and P. Sundell, How higher-spin gravity surpasses the spin two barrier: no-go theorems versus yes-go examples, Rev. Mod. Phys. 84 (2012) 987 [1007.0435].

- [2] E.S. Fradkin and M.A. Vasiliev, Cubic Interaction in Extended Theories of Massless Higher Spin Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 291 (1987) 141.
- [3] E.S. Fradkin and M.A. Vasiliev, Candidate to the Role of Higher Spin Symmetry, Annals Phys. 177 (1987) 63.
- [4] E.S. Fradkin and M.A. Vasiliev, On the Gravitational Interaction of Massless Higher Spin Fields, Phys. Lett. B 189 (1987) 89.
- [5] I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, AdS dual of the critical O(N) vector model, Phys. Lett. B 550 (2002) 213 [hep-th/0210114].
- [6] E. Sezgin and P. Sundell, Massless higher spins and holography, Nucl. Phys. B 644 (2002) 303 [hep-th/0205131].
- [7] C. Fronsdal, Massless Fields with Integer Spin, Phys. Rev. D 18 (1978) 3624.
- [8] C. Fronsdal, Singletons and Massless, Integral Spin Fields on de Sitter Space (Elementary Particles in a Curved Space. 7., Phys. Rev. D 20 (1979) 848.
- [9] A.K.H. Bengtsson, I. Bengtsson and L. Brink, Cubic Interaction Terms for Arbitrary Spin, Nucl. Phys. B 227 (1983) 31.
- [10] M.A. Vasiliev, Consistent equation for interacting gauge fields of all spins in (3+1)-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 243 (1990) 378.
- [11] M.A. Vasiliev, Nonlinear equations for symmetric massless higher spin fields in (A)dS(d), Phys. Lett. B 567 (2003) 139 [hep-th/0304049].
- [12] S. Giombi, S. Minwalla, S. Prakash, S.P. Trivedi, S.R. Wadia and X. Yin, *Chern-Simons Theory with Vector Fermion Matter, Eur. Phys. J. C* 72 (2012) 2112 [1110.4386].
- [13] O. Aharony, G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, d=3 Bosonic Vector Models Coupled to Chern-Simons Gauge Theories, JHEP 03 (2012) 037 [1110.4382].
- [14] M. Flato and C. Fronsdal, One Massless Particle Equals Two Dirac Singletons: Elementary Particles in a Curved Space. 6., Lett. Math. Phys. 2 (1978) 421.
- [15] F.A. Berends, G.J.H. Burgers and H. van Dam, Explicit Construction of Conserved Currents for Massless Fields of Arbitrary Spin, Nucl. Phys. B 271 (1986) 429.
- [16] M.G. Eastwood, Higher symmetries of the Laplacian, Annals Math. 161 (2005) 1645 [hep-th/0206233].
- [17] M.A. Vasiliev, Higher spin gauge theories in various dimensions, Fortsch. Phys. 52 (2004) 702 [hep-th/0401177].
- [18] N. Bouatta, G. Compere and A. Sagnotti, An Introduction to free higher-spin fields, in 1st Solvay Workshop on Higher Spin Gauge Theories, pp. 79–99, 9, 2004 [hep-th/0409068].

- [19] X. Bekaert, S. Cnockaert, C. Iazeolla and M.A. Vasiliev, Nonlinear higher spin theories in various dimensions, in 1st Solvay Workshop on Higher Spin Gauge Theories, pp. 132–197, 2004 [hep-th/0503128].
- [20] X. Bekaert, Comments on higher-spin symmetries, Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 6 (2009) 285 [0807.4223].
- [21] E.D. Skvortsov, *Gauge fields in (A)dS(d) and Connections of its symmetry algebra*, *J. Phys.* A **42** (2009) 385401 [0904.2919].
- [22] A. Sagnotti and M. Taronna, String Lessons for Higher-Spin Interactions, Nucl. Phys. B 842 (2011) 299 [1006.5242].
- [23] M. Taronna, *Higher-Spin Interactions: four-point functions and beyond*, *JHEP* 04 (2012) 029 [1107.5843].
- [24] V.E. Didenko and E.D. Skvortsov, *Elements of Vasiliev theory*, 1401.2975.
- [25] M.A. Vasiliev, Introduction into higher-spin gauge theory, Lectures given at Utrecht University (2014).
- [26] R. Rahman, Higher Spin Theory Part I, PoS ModaveVIII (2012) 004 [1307.3199].
- [27] R. Rahman and M. Taronna, From Higher Spins to Strings: A Primer, 1512.07932.
- [28] C. Sleight, Metric-like Methods in Higher Spin Holography, PoS Modave2016 (2017) 003 [1701.08360].
- [29] P. Kessel, The Very Basics of Higher-Spin Theory, PoS Modave2016 (2017) 001 [1702.03694].
- [30] T.V. Tran, *Higher Spin Gravity: Quantization and Algebraic Structures*, Ph.D. thesis, Munich U., 2020. 2008.12582. 10.5282/edoc.26543.
- [31] D. Ponomarev, Basic introduction to higher-spin theories, 2206.15385.
- [32] D.J. Gross, High-Energy Symmetries of String Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60 (1988) 1229.
- [33] G. Bonelli, On the tensionless limit of bosonic strings, infinite symmetries and higher spins, Nucl. Phys. B 669 (2003) 159 [hep-th/0305155].
- [34] M.H. Goroff and A. Sagnotti, *The Ultraviolet Behavior of Einstein Gravity*, *Nucl. Phys. B* **266** (1986) 709.
- [35] J.M. Maldacena, *The Large N limit of superconformal field theories and supergravity*, *Adv. Theor. Math. Phys.* **2** (1998) 231 [hep-th/9711200].
- [36] E. Witten, Anti-de Sitter space and holography, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998) 253 [hep-th/9802150].

- [37] B. Sundborg, Stringy gravity, interacting tensionless strings and massless higher spins, Nucl. Phys. B Proc. Suppl. 102 (2001) 113 [hep-th/0103247].
- [38] M.R. Gaberdiel and T. Hartman, *Symmetries of Holographic Minimal Models*, *JHEP* **05** (2011) 031 [1101.2910].
- [39] M.R. Gaberdiel and R. Gopakumar, *Minimal Model Holography*, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214002 [1207.6697].
- [40] E.P. Wigner, On Unitary Representations of the Inhomogeneous Lorentz Group, Annals Math. 40 (1939) 149.
- [41] X. Bekaert and N. Boulanger, *The unitary representations of the Poincaré group in any spacetime dimension*, *SciPost Phys. Lect. Notes* **30** (2021) 1 [hep-th/0611263].
- [42] S. Okubo and J. Patera, General Indices of Representations and Casimir Invariants, J. Math. Phys. 25 (1984) 219.
- [43] S.M. Kuzenko and A.E. Pindur, Massless particles in five and higher dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 812 (2021) 136020 [2010.07124].
- [44] I.A. Lahlali, N. Boulanger and A. Campoleoni, Coadjoint Orbits of the Poincaré Group for Discrete-Spin Particles in Any Dimension, Symmetry 13 (2021) 1749.
- [45] X. Bekaert and E.D. Skvortsov, *Elementary particles with continuous spin*, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 32 (2017) 1730019 [1708.01030].
- [46] E. Inonu and E.P. Wigner, On the Contraction of groups and their representations, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. **39** (1953) 510.
- [47] E. Angelopoulos and M. Laoues, *Masslessness in n-dimensions*, *Rev. Math. Phys.* 10 (1998) 271 [hep-th/9806100].
- [48] M. Fierz and W. Pauli, On relativistic wave equations for particles of arbitrary spin in an electromagnetic field, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A **173** (1939) 211.
- [49] R.R. Metsaev, Arbitrary spin massless bosonic fields in d-dimensional anti-de Sitter space, Lect. Notes Phys. 524 (1999) 331 [hep-th/9810231].
- [50] S. Deser and A. Waldron, Partial masslessness of higher spins in (A)dS, Nucl. Phys. B 607 (2001) 577 [hep-th/0103198].
- [51] S. Deser and A. Waldron, Null propagation of partially massless higher spins in (A)dS and cosmological constant speculations, Phys. Lett. B **513** (2001) 137 [hep-th/0105181].
- [52] C. de Rham and S. Renaux-Petel, Massive Gravity on de Sitter and Unique Candidate for Partially Massless Gravity, JCAP 01 (2013) 035 [1206.3482].
- [53] C. de Rham, K. Hinterbichler, R.A. Rosen and A.J. Tolley, *Evidence for and obstructions to nonlinear partially massless gravity*, *Phys. Rev. D* 88 (2013) 024003 [1302.0025].

- [54] E. Joung, K. Mkrtchyan and G. Poghosyan, *Looking for partially-massless gravity*, *JHEP* 07 (2019) 116 [1904.05915].
- [55] G. Thompson, *Killing tensors in spaces of constant curvature*, J. Math. Phys. 27 (1986) 2693.
- [56] X. Bekaert and N. Boulanger, Gauge invariants and Killing tensors in higher-spin gauge theories, Nucl. Phys. B 722 (2005) 225 [hep-th/0505068].
- [57] E.D. Skvortsov and M.A. Vasiliev, *Transverse Invariant Higher Spin Fields*, *Phys. Lett. B* 664 (2008) 301 [hep-th/0701278].
- [58] A. Campoleoni and D. Francia, *Maxwell-like Lagrangians for higher spins*, *JHEP* 03 (2013) 168 [1206.5877].
- [59] D. Francia, G.L. Monaco and K. Mkrtchyan, *Cubic interactions of Maxwell-like higher spins*, *JHEP* 04 (2017) 068 [1611.00292].
- [60] B. de Wit and D.Z. Freedman, Systematics of Higher Spin Gauge Fields, Phys. Rev. D 21 (1980) 358.
- [61] D. Francia, Generalised connections and higher-spin equations, Class. Quant. Grav. 29 (2012) 245003 [1209.4885].
- [62] E. Joung and K. Mkrtchyan, A note on higher-derivative actions for free higher-spin fields, JHEP 11 (2012) 153 [1209.4864].
- [63] D. Francia and A. Sagnotti, Free geometric equations for higher spins, Phys. Lett. B 543 (2002) 303 [hep-th/0207002].
- [64] A. Sagnotti and M. Tsulaia, On higher spins and the tensionless limit of string theory, Nucl. Phys. B 682 (2004) 83 [hep-th/0311257].
- [65] N. Boulanger, S. Cnockaert and M. Henneaux, A note on spin s duality, JHEP 06 (2003) 060 [hep-th/0306023].
- [66] S. Deser, P.K. Townsend and W. Siegel, *Higher Rank Representations of Lower Spin*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 184 (1981) 333.
- [67] C.M. Hull, Duality in gravity and higher spin gauge fields, JHEP 09 (2001) 027 [hep-th/0107149].
- [68] X. Bekaert and N. Boulanger, On geometric equations and duality for free higher spins, Phys. Lett. B 561 (2003) 183 [hep-th/0301243].
- [69] A.S. Matveev and M.A. Vasiliev, On dual formulation for higher spin gauge fields in (A)dS(d), Phys. Lett. B 609 (2005) 157 [hep-th/0410249].
- [70] M. Grigoriev, Parent formulations, frame-like Lagrangians, and generalized auxiliary fields, JHEP 12 (2012) 048 [1204.1793].

- [71] X. Bekaert, N. Boulanger and M. Henneaux, Consistent deformations of dual formulations of linearized gravity: A No go result, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 044010 [hep-th/0210278].
- [72] F.A. Berends, G.J.H. Burgers and H. van Dam, On the Theoretical Problems in Constructing Interactions Involving Higher Spin Massless Particles, Nucl. Phys. B 260 (1985) 295.
- [73] E. Joung and M. Taronna, *Cubic-interaction-induced deformations of higher-spin* symmetries, *JHEP* **03** (2014) 103 [1311.0242].
- [74] X. Bekaert, N. Boulanger and S. Leclercq, Strong obstruction of the Berends-Burgers-van Dam spin-3 vertex, J. Phys. A 43 (2010) 185401 [1002.0289].
- [75] S.N. Gupta, Gravitation and Electromagnetism, Phys. Rev. 96 (1954) 1683.
- [76] R.H. Kraichnan, Special-Relativistic Derivation of Generally Covariant Gravitation Theory, Phys. Rev. 98 (1955) 1118.
- [77] S. Weinberg, *Photons and gravitons in perturbation theory: Derivation of Maxwell's and Einstein's equations, Phys. Rev.* **138** (1965) B988.
- [78] S. Deser, Selfinteraction and gauge invariance, Gen. Rel. Grav. 1 (1970) 9 [gr-qc/0411023].
- [79] D.G. Boulware and S. Deser, *Classical General Relativity Derived from Quantum Gravity*, *Annals Phys.* **89** (1975) 193.
- [80] F.A. Berends, G.J.H. Burgers and H. Van Dam, On Spin Three Self Interactions, Z. Phys. C 24 (1984) 247.
- [81] A.K.H. Bengtsson, I. Bengtsson and N. Linden, *Interacting Higher Spin Gauge Fields on the Light Front, Class. Quant. Grav.* 4 (1987) 1333.
- [82] E.S. Fradkin and R.R. Metsaev, A Cubic interaction of totally symmetric massless representations of the Lorentz group in arbitrary dimensions, Class. Quant. Grav. 8 (1991) L89.
- [83] R.R. Metsaev, Generating function for cubic interaction vertices of higher spin fields in any dimension, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 8 (1993) 2413.
- [84] R.R. Metsaev, Cubic interaction vertices of massive and massless higher spin fields, Nucl. Phys. B 759 (2006) 147 [hep-th/0512342].
- [85] R.R. Metsaev, Cubic interaction vertices for fermionic and bosonic arbitrary spin fields, Nucl. Phys. B 859 (2012) 13 [0712.3526].
- [86] R. Manvelyan, K. Mkrtchyan and W. Ruhl, General trilinear interaction for arbitrary even higher spin gauge fields, Nucl. Phys. B 836 (2010) 204 [1003.2877].
- [87] N. Boulanger and S. Leclercq, Consistent couplings between spin-2 and spin-3 massless fields, JHEP 11 (2006) 034 [hep-th/0609221].

- [88] N. Boulanger, S. Leclercq and P. Sundell, *On The Uniqueness of Minimal Coupling in Higher-Spin Gauge Theory*, *JHEP* **08** (2008) 056 [0805.2764].
- [89] E. Joung and M. Taronna, *Cubic interactions of massless higher spins in (A)dS: metric-like approach*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 861 (2012) 145 [1110.5918].
- [90] E. Joung, L. Lopez and M. Taronna, *Generating functions of (partially-)massless higher-spin cubic interactions*, *JHEP* **01** (2013) 168 [1211.5912].
- [91] E. Joung, L. Lopez and M. Taronna, *On the cubic interactions of massive and partially-massless higher spins in (A)dS, JHEP* **07** (2012) 041 [1203.6578].
- [92] E. Joung, L. Lopez and M. Taronna, Solving the Noether procedure for cubic interactions of higher spins in (A)dS, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214020 [1207.5520].
- [93] R.R. Metsaev, Poincare invariant dynamics of massless higher spins: Fourth order analysis on mass shell, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 6 (1991) 359.
- [94] R.R. Metsaev, S matrix approach to massless higher spins theory. 2: The Case of internal symmetry, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 6 (1991) 2411.
- [95] D. Ponomarev and E.D. Skvortsov, Light-Front Higher-Spin Theories in Flat Space, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 095401 [1609.04655].
- [96] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, Higher Spin Interactions from Conformal Field Theory: The Complete Cubic Couplings, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 181602 [1603.00022].
- [97] X. Bekaert, J. Erdmenger, D. Ponomarev and C. Sleight, *Quartic AdS Interactions in Higher-Spin Gravity from Conformal Field Theory*, *JHEP* **11** (2015) 149 [1508.04292].
- [98] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, *Higher-Spin Gauge Theories and Bulk Locality*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 121 (2018) 171604 [1704.07859].
- [99] D. Ponomarev, A Note on (Non)-Locality in Holographic Higher Spin Theories, Universe 4 (2018) 2 [1710.00403].
- [100] A.K.H. Bengtsson, BRST APPROACH TO INTERACTING HIGHER SPIN GAUGE FIELDS, Class. Quant. Grav. 5 (1988) 437.
- [101] L. Cappiello, M. Knecht, S. Ouvry and J. Stern, BRST Construction of Interacting Gauge Theories of Higher Spin Fields, Annals Phys. 193 (1989) 10.
- [102] X. Bekaert, I.L. Buchbinder, A. Pashnev and M. Tsulaia, On higher spin theory: Strings, BRST, dimensional reductions, Class. Quant. Grav. 21 (2004) S1457 [hep-th/0312252].
- [103] A. Fotopoulos and M. Tsulaia, Gauge Invariant Lagrangians for Free and Interacting Higher Spin Fields. A Review of the BRST formulation, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 24 (2009) 1 [0805.1346].

- [104] K.B. Alkalaev and M. Grigoriev, Unified BRST description of AdS gauge fields, Nucl. Phys. B 835 (2010) 197 [0910.2690].
- [105] N. Boulanger, N. Colombo and P. Sundell, A minimal BV action for Vasiliev's four-dimensional higher spin gravity, JHEP 10 (2012) 043 [1205.3339].
- [106] R.R. Metsaev, *BRST-BV approach to cubic interaction vertices for massive and massless higher-spin fields*, *Phys. Lett. B* **720** (2013) 237 [1205.3131].
- [107] X. Bekaert and N. Boulanger, Tensor gauge fields in arbitrary representations of GL(D,R): Duality and Poincare lemma, Commun. Math. Phys. 245 (2004) 27 [hep-th/0208058].
- [108] M.A. Vasiliev, Actions, charges and off-shell fields in the unfolded dynamics approach, Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod. Phys. 3 (2006) 37 [hep-th/0504090].
- [109] N. Boulanger, C. Iazeolla and P. Sundell, Unfolding Mixed-Symmetry Fields in AdS and the BMV Conjecture: I. General Formalism, JHEP 07 (2009) 013 [0812.3615].
- [110] J.A. Schouten, Uber Differentialkomitanten zweier kontravarianter Grossen, Proc. Kon. Ned. Akad. Wet. Amst. 43 (1940) 449.
- [111] A. Nijenhuis, Jacobi-type identities for bilinear differential concomitants of certain tensor fields, I, Indag. Math. 17 (1955) 390.
- [112] A. Nijenhuis, Jacobi-type identities for bilinear differential concomitants of certain tensor fields, II, Indag. Math. 17 (1955) 398.
- [113] M. Dubois-Violette and P.W. Michor, A Common generalization of the Frohlicher-Nijenhuis bracket and the Schouten bracket for symmetric multivector fields, Indag. Math., N. S. 6 (1995) 51 [alg-geom/9401006].
- [114] X. Bekaert, Notes on Higher-Spin Diffeomorphisms, Universe 7 (2021) 508 [2108.09263].
- [115] A.K.H. Bengtsson and I. Bengtsson, Massless higher-spin fields revisited, Class. Quant. Grav. 3 (1986) 927.
- [116] X. Bekaert, N. Boulanger, S. Cnockaert and S. Leclercq, On killing tensors and cubic vertices in higher-spin gauge theories, Fortsch. Phys. 54 (2006) 282 [hep-th/0602092].
- [117] C. Sleight and M. Taronna, *Higher-Spin Algebras, Holography and Flat Space*, *JHEP* 02 (2017) 095 [1609.00991].
- [118] D. Ponomarev, Chiral Higher Spin Theories and Self-Duality, JHEP 12 (2017) 141 [1710.00270].
- [119] D. Ponomarev, 3d conformal fields with manifest sl(2, C), JHEP 06 (2021) 055
   [2104.02770].
- [120] D. Ponomarev, Towards higher-spin holography in flat space, JHEP 01 (2023) 084 [2210.04035].

- Simon Pekar
- [121] N. Boulanger, D. Ponomarev, E.D. Skvortsov and M. Taronna, On the uniqueness of higher-spin symmetries in AdS and CFT, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 28 (2013) 1350162 [1305.5180].
- [122] A. Mikhailov, Notes on higher spin symmetries, hep-th/0201019.
- [123] X. Bekaert, Higher spin algebras as higher symmetries, Ann. U. Craiova Phys. 16 (2006) 58 [0704.0898].
- [124] C. Iazeolla and P. Sundell, A Fiber Approach to Harmonic Analysis of Unfolded Higher-Spin Field Equations, JHEP 10 (2008) 022 [0806.1942].
- [125] E. Joung and K. Mkrtchyan, Notes on higher-spin algebras: minimal representations and structure constants, JHEP 05 (2014) 103 [1401.7977].
- [126] M.A. Vasiliev, Consistent Equations for Interacting Massless Fields of All Spins in the First Order in Curvatures, Annals Phys. 190 (1989) 59.
- [127] A. Nikitin, Generalized killing tensors of arbitrary rank and order, Ukr. Math. J. 43 (1991), 734–743 (1991).
- [128] A. Shapovalov and I. Shirokov, Symmetry algebras of linear differential equations, Theor. Math. Phys. 92 (1992), 697–703 (1992).
- [129] N. Boulanger and E.D. Skvortsov, *Higher-spin algebras and cubic interactions for simple mixed-symmetry fields in AdS spacetime*, *JHEP* 09 (2011) 063 [1107.5028].
- [130] S.E. Konshtein and M.A. Vasiliev, Massless Representations and Admissibility Condition for Higher Spin Superalgebras, Nucl. Phys. B 312 (1989) 402.
- [131] S.E. Konstein and M.A. Vasiliev, Extended Higher Spin Superalgebras and Their Massless Representations, Nucl. Phys. B 331 (1990) 475.
- [132] M.A. Vasiliev, Higher spin superalgebras in any dimension and their representations, JHEP 12 (2004) 046 [hep-th/0404124].
- [133] X. Bekaert, Singletons and their maximal symmetry algebras, in 6th Summer School in Modern Mathematical Physics, pp. 71–89, 11, 2011 [1111.4554].
- [134] P.A.M. Dirac, A Remarkable representation of the 3 + 2 de Sitter group, J. Math. Phys. 4 (1963) 901.
- [135] X. Bekaert and M. Grigoriev, Manifestly conformal descriptions and higher symmetries of bosonic singletons, SIGMA 6 (2010) 038 [0907.3195].
- [136] X. Bekaert and M. Grigoriev, *Higher order singletons, partially massless fields and their boundary values in the ambient approach*, *Nucl. Phys. B* **876** (2013) 667 [1305.0162].
- [137] S.S. Gubser, I.R. Klebanov and A.M. Polyakov, *Gauge theory correlators from noncritical string theory*, *Phys. Lett. B* 428 (1998) 105 [hep-th/9802109].

- [138] S. Deser and R. Jackiw, *Three-Dimensional Cosmological Gravity: Dynamics of Constant Curvature*, *Annals Phys.* 153 (1984) 405.
- [139] S. Deser, R. Jackiw and G. 't Hooft, *Three-Dimensional Einstein Gravity: Dynamics of Flat Space*, Annals Phys. 152 (1984) 220.
- [140] J.D. Brown and M. Henneaux, Central Charges in the Canonical Realization of Asymptotic Symmetries: An Example from Three-Dimensional Gravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 104 (1986) 207.
- [141] A. Achucarro and P.K. Townsend, A Chern-Simons Action for Three-Dimensional anti-De Sitter Supergravity Theories, Phys. Lett. B 180 (1986) 89.
- [142] E. Witten, (2+1)-Dimensional Gravity as an Exactly Soluble System, Nucl. Phys. B 311 (1988) 46.
- [143] A. Campoleoni, *Higher Spins in D* = 2 + 1, *Subnucl. Ser.* **49** (2013) 385 [1110.5841].
- [144] A. Campoleoni, S. Fredenhagen, S. Pfenninger and S. Theisen, Asymptotic symmetries of three-dimensional gravity coupled to higher-spin fields, JHEP 11 (2010) 007 [1008.4744].
- [145] A. Campoleoni and S. Pekar, Carrollian and Galilean conformal higher-spin algebras in any dimensions, JHEP 02 (2022) 150 [2110.07794].
- [146] M. Ammon, M. Pannier and M. Riegler, Scalar Fields in 3D Asymptotically Flat Higher-Spin Gravity, J. Phys. A 54 (2021) 105401 [2009.14210].
- [147] M. Grigoriev, K. Mkrtchyan and E. Skvortsov, Matter-free higher spin gravities in 3D: Partially-massless fields and general structure, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 066003 [2005.05931].
- [148] C.N. Pope, L.J. Romans and X. Shen, W(infinity) and the Racah-wigner Algebra, Nucl. Phys. B 339 (1990) 191.
- [149] A.V. Korybut, Covariant structure constants for a deformed oscillator algebra, Theor. Math. Phys. 193 (2017) 1409 [1409.8634].
- [150] T. Basile, N. Boulanger and F. Buisseret, *Structure constants of shs*[ $\lambda$ ] : *the deformed-oscillator point of view*, *J. Phys. A* **51** (2018) 025201 [1604.04510].
- [151] M.P. Blencowe, A Consistent Interacting Massless Higher Spin Field Theory in D = (2+1), Class. Quant. Grav. 6 (1989) 443.
- [152] E. Bergshoeff, M.P. Blencowe and K.S. Stelle, Area Preserving Diffeomorphisms and Higher Spin Algebra, Commun. Math. Phys. 128 (1990) 213.
- [153] M. Henneaux and S.-J. Rey, Nonlinear W<sub>infinity</sub> as Asymptotic Symmetry of Three-Dimensional Higher Spin Anti-de Sitter Gravity, JHEP 12 (2010) 007 [1008.4579].

- [154] H. Afshar, A. Bagchi, R. Fareghbal, D. Grumiller and J. Rosseel, Spin-3 Gravity in Three-Dimensional Flat Space, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 121603 [1307.4768].
- [155] H.A. Gonzalez, J. Matulich, M. Pino and R. Troncoso, Asymptotically flat spacetimes in three-dimensional higher spin gravity, JHEP 09 (2013) 016 [1307.5651].
- [156] M. Ammon, D. Grumiller, S. Prohazka, M. Riegler and R. Wutte, *Higher-Spin Flat Space Cosmologies with Soft Hair*, *JHEP* 05 (2017) 031 [1703.02594].
- [157] A. Campoleoni, H.A. Gonzalez, B. Oblak and M. Riegler, *BMS Modules in Three Dimensions*, *Int. J. Mod. Phys. A* 31 (2016) 1650068 [1603.03812].
- [158] S.F. Prokushkin and M.A. Vasiliev, Higher spin gauge interactions for massive matter fields in 3-D AdS space-time, Nucl. Phys. B 545 (1999) 385 [hep-th/9806236].
- [159] A. Strominger, w(1+infinity) and the Celestial Sphere, 2105.14346.
- [160] L. Freidel, D. Pranzetti and A.-M. Raclariu, *Higher spin dynamics in gravity and w1+∞ celestial symmetries, Phys. Rev. D* **106** (2022) 086013 [2112.15573].
- [161] M.A. Vasiliev, Free Massless Fields of Arbitrary Spin in the De Sitter Space and Initial Data for a Higher Spin Superalgebra, Fortsch. Phys. 35 (1987) 741.
- [162] M.A. Vasiliev, Extended Higher Spin Superalgebras and Their Realizations in Terms of Quantum Operators, Fortsch. Phys. 36 (1988) 33.
- [163] M.A. Vasiliev, Linearized Curvatures for Auxiliary Fields in the De Sitter Space, Nucl. Phys. B 307 (1988) 319.
- [164] E.S. Fradkin and A.A. Tseytlin, Conformal supergravity, Phys. Rept. 119 (1985) 233.
- [165] A.Y. Segal, Conformal higher spin theory, Nucl. Phys. B 664 (2003) 59 [hep-th/0207212].
- [166] M. Grigoriev, I. Lovrekovic and E. Skvortsov, New Conformal Higher Spin Gravities in 3d, JHEP 01 (2020) 059 [1909.13305].
- [167] E.D. Skvortsov, T. Tran and M. Tsulaia, *Quantum Chiral Higher Spin Gravity*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **121** (2018) 031601 [1805.00048].
- [168] E. Skvortsov, T. Tran and M. Tsulaia, More on Quantum Chiral Higher Spin Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 106001 [2002.08487].
- [169] K. Krasnov, E. Skvortsov and T. Tran, Actions for Self-dual Higher Spin Gravities, 2105.12782.
- [170] L. Bonora, M. Cvitan, P. Dominis Prester, S. Giaccari and T. Stemberga, HS in flat spacetime. YM-like models, 1812.05030.

- [171] L. Bonora and S. Giaccari, HS Yang-Mills-like models: a review, Ann. U. Craiova Phys. 30 (2020) 1 [2103.10105].
- [172] T. Adamo and T. Tran, Higher-spin Yang-Mills, amplitudes and self-duality, 2210.07130.
- [173] J. Fang and C. Fronsdal, Massless Fields with Half Integral Spin, Phys. Rev. D 18 (1978) 3630.
- [174] J. Fang and C. Fronsdal, Massless, Half Integer Spin Fields in De Sitter Space, Phys. Rev. D 22 (1980) 1361.
- [175] K.B. Alkalaev, M. Grigoriev and E.D. Skvortsov, Uniformizing higher-spin equations, J. Phys. A 48 (2015) 015401 [1409.6507].
- [176] E. Joung and K. Mkrtchyan, Partially-massless higher-spin algebras and their finite-dimensional truncations, JHEP 01 (2016) 003 [1508.07332].
- [177] C. Brust and K. Hinterbichler, Partially Massless Higher-Spin Theory, JHEP 02 (2017) 086 [1610.08510].
- [178] A. Campoleoni, D. Francia, J. Mourad and A. Sagnotti, Unconstrained Higher Spins of Mixed Symmetry. I. Bose Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 815 (2009) 289 [0810.4350].
- [179] A. Campoleoni, D. Francia, J. Mourad and A. Sagnotti, Unconstrained Higher Spins of Mixed Symmetry. II. Fermi Fields, Nucl. Phys. B 828 (2010) 405 [0904.4447].
- [180] A. Campoleoni, Metric-like Lagrangian Formulations for Higher-Spin Fields of Mixed Symmetry, Riv. Nuovo Cim. 33 (2010) 123 [0910.3155].
- [181] S. Deser and R.I. Nepomechie, Gauge Invariance Versus Masslessness in De Sitter Space, Annals Phys. 154 (1984) 396.
- [182] L.P.S. Singh and C.R. Hagen, Lagrangian formulation for arbitrary spin. 1. The boson case, Phys. Rev. D 9 (1974) 898.
- [183] L.P.S. Singh and C.R. Hagen, Lagrangian formulation for arbitrary spin. 2. The fermion case, Phys. Rev. D 9 (1974) 910.
- [184] D. Anninos, T. Hartman and A. Strominger, *Higher Spin Realization of the dS/CFT Correspondence*, *Class. Quant. Grav.* 34 (2017) 015009 [1108.5735].
- [185] O. Aharony, G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, Correlation Functions of Large N Chern-Simons-Matter Theories and Bosonization in Three Dimensions, JHEP 12 (2012) 028 [1207.4593].
- [186] G. Gur-Ari and R. Yacoby, *Three Dimensional Bosonization From Supersymmetry*, JHEP 11 (2015) 013 [1507.04378].
- [187] J. Maldacena and A. Zhiboedov, Constraining Conformal Field Theories with A Higher Spin Symmetry, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 214011 [1112.1016].

- [188] V. Alba and K. Diab, Constraining conformal field theories with a higher spin symmetry in d=4, 1307.8092.
- [189] V. Alba and K. Diab, Constraining conformal field theories with a higher spin symmetry in d > 3 dimensions, JHEP **03** (2016) 044 [1510.02535].
- [190] S. Giombi, Higher Spin CFT Duality, in Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: New Frontiers in Fields and Strings, pp. 137–214, 2017, DOI [1607.02967].
- [191] A. Campoleoni, S. Fredenhagen and S. Pfenninger, *Asymptotic W-symmetries in three-dimensional higher-spin gauge theories*, *JHEP* **09** (2011) 113 [1107.0290].
- [192] A. Campoleoni and M. Henneaux, *Asymptotic symmetries of three-dimensional higher-spin gravity: the metric approach*, *JHEP* **03** (2015) 143 [1412.6774].
- [193] W. Li and S. Theisen, Some aspects of holographic W-gravity, JHEP 08 (2015) 035 [1504.07799].
- [194] D. Grumiller, A. Perez, S. Prohazka, D. Tempo and R. Troncoso, *Higher Spin Black Holes with Soft Hair*, *JHEP* 10 (2016) 119 [1607.05360].
- [195] D. Grumiller, A. Pérez, M.M. Sheikh-Jabbari, R. Troncoso and C. Zwikel, Spacetime structure near generic horizons and soft hair, Phys. Rev. Lett. 124 (2020) 041601 [1908.09833].
- [196] Y. Lei and C. Peng, Higher spin holography with Galilean symmetry in general dimensions, Class. Quant. Grav. 33 (2016) 135008 [1507.08293].
- [197] S. Prohazka and M. Riegler, *Higher Spins Without (Anti-)de Sitter*, Universe 4 (2018) 20 [1710.11105].
- [198] R. Caroca, P. Concha, O. Fierro, E. Rodríguez and P. Salgado-Rebolledo, *Generalized Chern–Simons higher-spin gravity theories in three dimensions*, *Nucl. Phys. B* 934 (2018) 240 [1712.09975].
- [199] M. Henneaux and P. Salgado-Rebolledo, Carroll contractions of Lorentz-invariant theories, 2109.06708.
- [200] R. Caroca, D.M. Peñafiel and P. Salgado-Rebolledo, *Non-relativistic spin-3 symmetries in* 2+1 *dimensions from expanded/extended Nappi-Witten algebras*, 2208.00602.
- [201] P. Concha, C. Henríquez-Báez and E. Rodríguez, Non-relativistic and ultra-relativistic expansions of three-dimensional spin-3 gravity theories, JHEP 10 (2022) 155 [2208.01013].
- [202] A. Campoleoni, D. Francia and C. Heissenberg, *On higher-spin supertranslations and superrotations*, *JHEP* 05 (2017) 120 [1703.01351].

- [203] A. Campoleoni, D. Francia and C. Heissenberg, On asymptotic symmetries in higher dimensions for any spin, JHEP 12 (2020) 129 [2011.04420].
- [204] X. Bekaert and B. Oblak, Massless scalars and higher-spin BMS in any dimension, JHEP 11 (2022) 022 [2209.02253].
- [205] X. Bekaert, A. Campoleoni and S. Pekar, Carrollian conformal scalar as flat-space singleton, Phys. Lett. B 838 (2023) 137734 [2211.16498].
- [206] S. Weinberg, Photons and Gravitons in S-Matrix Theory: Derivation of Charge Conservation and Equality of Gravitational and Inertial Mass, Phys. Rev. 135 (1964) B1049.
- [207] S.R. Coleman and J. Mandula, All Possible Symmetries of the S Matrix, Phys. Rev. 159 (1967) 1251.
- [208] M. Porrati, Universal Limits on Massless High-Spin Particles, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 065016 [0804.4672].
- [209] M. Porrati, Old and New No Go Theorems on Interacting Massless Particles in Flat Space, in 17th International Seminar on High Energy Physics, 9, 2012 [1209.4876].
- [210] G. Velo and D. Zwanziger, *Noncausality and other defects of interaction lagrangians for particles with spin one and higher*, *Phys. Rev.* **188** (1969) 2218.
- [211] R. Haag, J.T. Lopuszanski and M. Sohnius, All Possible Generators of Supersymmetries of the s Matrix, Nucl. Phys. B 88 (1975) 257.
- [212] T. Tran, Constraining higher-spin S-matrices, JHEP 02 (2023) 001 [2212.02540].
- [213] R. Manvelyan, K. Mkrtchyan, R. Mkrtchyan and S. Theisen, On Higher Spin Symmetries in AdS<sub>5</sub>, JHEP 10 (2013) 185 [1304.7988].
- [214] N. Boulanger, A. Campoleoni and S. Pekar, , to appear (2023).
- [215] A.O. Barut and R. Raczka, *Theory of Group Representations and Applications*, World Scientific Publishing Company (1986).